DATE: 27 May 2025

MY REF: Planning Committee
Bl b YOUR REF:
a y g . CONTACT: Democratic Services
District Council TEL NO: 0116 272 7638
EMAIL: committees@blaby.gov.uk

the heart of Leicestershire

To Members of the Planning Committee

CliIr. Lee Breckon JP (Chairman)
Cllr. Susan Findlay (Vice-Chairman)

Cllr. Tony Deakin ClIr. Helen Gambardella Cllr. Neil Wright
Clir. Roy Denney ClIr. Richard Holdridge
Clir. Janet Forey Clir. Bob Waterton

Dear Councillor,

A meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held in the Council Chamber - Council
Offices, Narborough on THURSDAY, 5 JUNE 2025 at 4.30 p.m. for the transaction of the
following business and your attendance is requested.

Yours faithfully

\\‘C}u /r

\
\J

Gemma Dennis
Corporate Services Group Manager and Monitoring Officer

me disability Blaby District Council Council Offices Desford Road Narborough Leicestershire LE19 2EP
BE confident Telephone: 0116 275 0555 Web: www.blaby.gov.uk
EMPLOYVER This document is printed on recycled paper


http://www.blaby.gov.uk/

AGENDA
REFERENCING UP OF DECISIONS - COUNCIL CONSTITUTION PAGE 3-6-20

Any Committee or Sub-Committee may refer up any report for decision to its parent
body. Referencing up shall be on the following basis:-

a) At the beginning of the relevant meeting, any Committee/Sub-Committee
Member may move reference up of any item of business. The Member must
identify the grounds of significance justifying so doing. If this is seconded, the
proposition shall be open to debate.

b) There shall be no debate upon the contents of the report itself. Debate shall
be limited to consideration as to whether the report item is of such
significance as to justify its reference up to the parent body notwithstanding
that the parent body has delegated its decision making powers.

C) If the referencing up motion is carried, the matter shall not be determined at
the meeting. If the referencing up motion is not carried, the matter shall be
dealt with in accordance with the Committee/Sub-Committee’s delegated
powers.

AGENDA
Apologies for absence
Disclosures of Interest

To receive disclosures of interests from Members (ie. The existence and nature of
those interests in respect of items on this agenda).

Minutes (Pages 5 - 16)
To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 8 May 2025 (enclosed).
Applications for Determination (Pages 17 - 70)

To consider the report of the Planning and Strategic Growth Group Manager
(enclosed).

Blaby District Council (56 Station, Countesthorpe) Tree Preservation Order 2025
(Pages 71 - 80)

To consider the report of the Development Services Manager (enclosed).

MEMBERS SHOULD NOTE THAT ALL LETTERS OF REPRESENTATION AND
CONSULTATION RESPONSES WILL BE SUMMARISED IN THE COMMITTEE
REPORTS. BACKGROUND PAPERS TO REPORTS WILL BE AVAILABLE TO
VIEW ON THE COUNCIL’'S WEBSITE.



Agenda Iltem 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Minutes of a meeting held at the Council Offices, Narborough

THURSDAY, 8 MAY 2025

Present:-

ClIr. Lee Breckon JP (Chairman)
Clir. Mike Shirley (Vice-Chairman)

Cllr. Roy Denney Cllr. Ande Savage
Clir. Helen Gambardella ClIr. Neil Wright
Substitute:-
Clir. Nigel Grundy (In place of CliIr. Janet Forey)

Officers present:-

Gemma Dennis - Corporate Services Group Manager

Jonathan Hodge - Planning & Strategic Growth Group Manager

Kristy Ingles - Development Services Manager

Charles Ebden - Major Schemes Officer

Maria Philpott - Senior Planning Officer

Stephen Dukes - Strategic Growth Manager

Helen Wallis - Senior Planning Officer

Charlene Hurd - Development Services Team Leader

Sandeep Tiensa - Senior Democratic Services & Scrutiny Officer

Nicole Cramp - Democratic & Scrutiny Services Officer

Avisa Birchenough - Democratic Services & Scrutiny Officer
Apologies:-

ClIr. Tony Deakin and Clir. Bob Waterton

1

Planning Committee - Thursday, 8 May 2025

Page 3



1. DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Cllr. Lee Breckon - 24/0105/FUL — Erection of 21 dwellings and
associated works including demolition of
existing bungalow & outbuildings.

Nature of Interest - Non-Registerable Interest
Site Of ElIms Farm Bungalow, Springwell
Lane, Whetstone

Extent of Interest - ClIr. Lee Breckon is employed as Clerk to
Whetstone Parish Council Ward. ClIr.
Breckon abstains from voting or being part of
the decision making process.

Clir. Mike Shirley - 24/0976/0OUT — Outline application for 9 new
dwellings (access and layout only, all other
matters reserved) and demolition of dwelling.

Nature of Interest - Non-Registerable Interest
2 Spring Gardens, Sapcote

Extent of Interest - CllIr. Mike Shirley is currently the temporary
Chairman of Sapcote Parish council until 15t
May 2025, when another Chairman will be
elected. This does not impede Clir. Shirley’s
discussion or vote.

2. MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 April, as circulated, were approved and
signed as a correct record.

3. APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION

Considered — Report of the Major Schemes Officer.
24/0004/FUL
Hampton Oak Developments Limited

Full Planning Application for the Development of 41 Dwellings and Associated
Infrastructure.

2

Planning Committee - Thursday, 8 May 2025

Page 4



Land Off Gillam Butts, Countesthorpe

Public Speaking

Pursuant to Part 4, Section 7 of the Council’s Constitution in relation to public rights
of participation in planning applications, the Chairman allowed the following to give
a 5 minute presentation:

e ClIr Richard Holdridge — Ward Member.
e ClIr Sue Kinvig — Parish Councillor
e Simon Hawley — Applicant

DECISIONS

THAT APPLICATION 24/0004/FUL BE APPROVED SUBJECT TO THE
APPLICANT ENTERING INTO AN AGREEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 106
OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT TO SECURE THE
FOLLOWING:

e 25% Provision of Affordable Housing

e Affordable Housing Commuted Sum

e Primary Education

e Library facilities

e Civic amenity and waste facilities

e Health care facilities

e Contributions or provision of open space provisions / enhancement /
management

e Contributions towards, travel packs and bus pass provision

e Recycling and refuse contribution (wheeled bins)

e S106 Monitoring — District and County Councils

AND SUBJECT TO THE IMPOSITION OF CONDITIONS RELATING TO THE
FOLLOWING:

1. Statutory time limit

Development to be in accordance with approved plans

Details of all external materials to be submitted, agreed and adhered to.
Details of all boundary treatments to be submitted, agreed and adhered to.
Details of all hard landscaping to be submitted, agreed and adhered to.
Construction Management Plan to be submitted, agreed and adhered to during
development

Details of site/finished floor levels to be submitted, agreed and adhered to.

8. Details of external lighting to public areas to be submitted, agreed and adhered

3

oghkwn

~

Planning Committee - Thursday, 8 May 2025

Page 5



4

to.

9. Arboricultural Method Statement including tree protection measures to be
submitted, agreed and adhered to.

10. All existing protected trees and boundary hedges shall be retained

11. Soft Landscaping Scheme to be implemented in accordance with approved
plans.

12.30-year Landscape Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted and
agreed and adhered to.

13.Construction Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity (CEMP) shall be
submitted and agreed and adhered to.

14. Surface water drainage scheme to be submitted and agreed and implemented.

15. Construction surface water drainage scheme to be submitted and agreed and
implemented.

16. Details for the long-term management and maintenance of the surface water
drainage scheme to be submitted and agreed and implemented.

17.Infiltration testing to be provided

18.Programme of archaeological work to be completed, submitted and agreed and
implemented.

19.The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Geo-Environment
Assessment.

20.Reporting of unexpected contamination

21.Access arrangements to be implemented in full.

22.Parking and turning facilities to be implemented in full.

23.Parking to be retained in perpetuity

24.No gates, access gates, barriers, bollards, chains etc to be erected.

25.Drainage to be provided within the site such that surface water does not drain
into the public highway including private access drives.

26. A waste collection strategy to be submitted and agreed.

27.Bathroom windows to be obscurely glazed

28.Removal of Permitted Development Rights for boundary treatments on selected
plots

29.Removal of Permitted Development Rights for additional floors

30.Removal of Permitted Development Rights for additional windows on selected
plots.

31.Removal of Permitted Development Rights for extensions on selected plots.

Planning Committee - Thursday, 8 May 2025

Page 6



Considered — Report of the Senior Planning Officer.

24/0105/FUL

Mr Liam Edwards (MyPad Group)

Erection of 21 dwellings and associated works including demolition of
existing bungalow & outbuildings.

Site Of EIms Farm Bungalow, Springwell Lane, Whetstone

Public Speaking

Pursuant to Part 4, Section 7 of the Council’s Constitution in relation to public rights
of participation in planning applications, the Chairman allowed the following to give a
5 minute presentation:

e Peter Cox - Objector
e Jonathan Bradbury - Agent

DECISION

THAT APPLICATION 24/0105/FUL BE APPROVED SUBJECT TO THE
APPLICANT ENTERING INTO AN AGREEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 106
OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT TO SECURE THE
FOLLOWING:

e Provision of 100% affordable housing

e Secondary education contribution

e Library facilities contribution

e Waste facilities contribution (household waste centre)
e Refuse bin collection

e Healthcare facilities contribution

e 2 x 6 month bus passes for first occupants of each dwelling
e Travel packs for each dwelling

e Open space contributions

e Leicestershire County Council monitoring costs

e Blaby District Council monitoring costs

AND SUBJECT TO THE IMPOSITION OF CONDITIONS RELATING TO THE
FOLLOWING:

1. 3 year time limit.

2. Approved plans.

3. Prior to commencement, details of site/finished floor levels to be submitted,
agreed and adhered to.

5

Planning Committee - Thursday, 8 May 2025

Page 7



4. Prior to commencement, a Construction Management Statement to be
submitted, agreed and adhered to during the construction work (including
measures relating to construction traffic and wheel washing)

5. Prior to commencement, a Construction Ecological Management Plan including

Reasonable Avoidance Measures Statement shall be submitted, agreed and

adhered to during the construction work.

Prior to commencement, the submission of a Landscape and Ecological

Management Plan to be submitted, agreed and implemented

Contamination phase Il (investigation)

Contamination phase Il (remediation) (if required)

Contamination verification (if required)

10 Unexpected contamination

11.Prior to the commencement of development, further details of foul and surface
water drainage shall be submitted, agreed and implemented

12.Prior to the commencement of development, details of the management of
surface water drainage on site during construction of the development to be
submitted, agreed and implemented

13. Prior to the commencement of development, an Arboricultural Method Statement
and Tree Protection Plan shall be submitted, agreed and adhered to

14.No occupation until details of the long-term maintenance of the surface water
drainage system shall be submitted, agreed and implemented

15.Tree protection to be in place during construction

16. Details of all external materials to be submitted, agreed and adhered to.

17.Details of all hard and soft landscaping to be submitted and agreed (including
boundary treatments).

18. Agreed landscaping scheme to be carried out.

19. Details of street lighting and individual plot lighting to be submitted, agreed and
adhered to.

20.Development to be implemented in accordance with the recommendations set
out in the Habitats and Protected Species report by Paul Hickling Associates
dated February 2024.

21.Development to accord with the Noise Impact Assessment by By Acoustics
dated November 2024 and mitigation measures therein

22.No occupation until the access, parking and turning has been provided to accord
with the approved proposed site layout plan

23.Removal of PD rights — extensions, porches and outbuildings

24 First floor bathroom window to Plot 7 to be obscure glazed

25.EV charging points to be submitted, agreed and implemented

o

© o~

Considered — Report of the Development Services Team Leader.

24/0117/VAR
Wexford Retail LP,
A Crown Estate (TCE) Company

6

Planning Committee - Thursday, 8 May 2025

Page 8



Variation of conditions 2 and 4 of planning permission 15/0577/FUL to
facilitate the subdivision of the unit to create 2 no. separate retail units and
associated external changes

Unit 3 Fosse Park West, Grove Way, Enderby

Public Speaking

Pursuant to Part 4, Section 7 of the Council’'s Constitution in relation to public rights
of participation in planning applications, the Chairman allowed the following to give a
5 minute presentation:

e Heather Amell — On behalf of Highcross Leicester
e Craig Blatchford — Agent from Montague Evans

DECISION

THAT APPLICATION 24/0117/VAR BE APPROVED SUBJECT TO THE
APPLICANT ENTERING INTO A DEED OF VARIATION TO THE SECTION 106
AGREEMENT ASSOCIATED WITH PLANNING PERMISSION 15/0577/FUL,
AND SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS SET OUT BELOW.

1. Approved plans condition (amended condition 2).

2. Main terrace limited to 8 units, only Units 3a and 3b permitted to be less than
393 sqg m and only 4 units permitted to be less than 929 sq m (amended
condition 4).

3. Units 1 and 2 shall not be amalgamated (formerly condition 5).

4. Limit of 5,997 sq m gross external ground floor area for main retail terrace
(formerly condition 6).

5. Limit of 4,302 sq m for mezzanine floorspace in main retail terrace (formerly
condition 7).

6. Units 1 and 2 limited to Class E(a) (formerly condition 8).

7. Units 13 to 18 limited to Class E(c) and limits on floor space for each unit
(formerly condition 9).

8. Limit of 5,422 sq m for Unit 1 and limit of 3,537 sq m for ground floor area
(formerly condition 10).

9. Limit of 6,689 sq m for Unit 2 and limit of 2,871 sq m for ground floor area
(formerly condition 11).

10.No more than 5% of any unit in E(a) use to be used for the sale of ancillary food
and drink for consumption off the premises (formerly condition 12).

11.Class E(c) floorspace to be used for no other purpose (formerly condition 13).

12.Vehicular gates, etc. to service yard to be hung so as not to open outwards.
Other gates, etc. to be set back a minimum of 5 metres behind the highway
boundary (formerly condition 18).

13.Minimum of 881 car parking spaces to be retained in perpetuity (formerly

7

Planning Committee - Thursday, 8 May 2025

Page 9



8

condition 19).
14.Landscaping scheme to be retained and any trees, etc. which die or are
removed to be replaced within 5 years of original planting (formerly condition 21).
15. Lighting scheme to be retained in perpetuity (formerly condition 28).

Considered — Report of the Senior Planning Officer.

24/0615/0UT

Bloor Homes Limited, Mr B Crane, Mr P Crane, Mr T Crane, Ms T Price, Mr J
Crane, Mrs B Downes, Mrs E Coupe, and Ms J Downes

Outline application for the demolition of buildings, alterations to existing
farmhouse, and the erection of up to 145 new dwellings and creation of
associated vehicular access to Hinckley Road and pedestrian/cycle access to
Beggars Lane, and associated infrastructure and enabling earthworks, with all
matters to be reserved except access points into the Site.

Land to the south of Hinckley Road, Leicester Forest East

Public Speaking

Pursuant to Part 4, Section 7 of the Council’s Constitution in relation to public rights
of participation in planning applications, the Chairman allowed the following to give a
5 minute presentation:

e Gary Stephens — Agent from Marrons
DECISION
THAT APPLICATION 24/0615/0UT BE APPROVED SUBJECT TO THE
APPLICANT ENTERING INTO AN AGREEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 106

OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT TO SECURE THE
FOLLOWING:

o 25% Affordable Housing provision

e Education Contribution

e Health care facilities contribution

e Police Contribution

e Library facilities contribution

¢ Civic amenity and waste facilities contribution
e 2 X 6-or 12- month bus passes per dwelling
e Travel Plan monitoring fee

e Bus stop contribution

e Desford Crossroad contribution *

Planning Committee - Thursday, 8 May 2025

Page 10



e Hinckley Road/A47 /Beggars Lane junction improvement contribution
Traffic Regulation Order contribution

Refuse bins contribution

Cemetery facilities and maintenance contribution,

Allotments and maintenance contribution

Sports provision contribution

Securing delivery and monitoring of biodiversity units are per the statutory
Biodiversity Net Gain condition (HMMP requirements)

e S106 monitoring contributions— District and County Councils

*Level of contribution to be secured towards Desford Crossroads improvements to
be assessed against the tests of CIL regulations and the decision on the S106
requirement is delegated to the Planning and Strategic Growth Group Manager.

AND SUBJECT TO THE STATUTORY BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN CONDITION

AND IMPOSITION OF CONDITIONS RELATING TO THE FOLLOWING:

1. Development to begin within 4 years of date of permission or 2 years from

reserved matters approval (whichever is the latter).

Reserved Matters details to be submitted.

Development to be in accordance with approved plans.

No approval to illustrative site layout.

Maximum number of dwellings not to exceed 145

Dwellings to not exceed two and a half storeys in height

Access to be implemented prior to occupation.

Off-site footway/cycleway and crossing facilities to be implemented prior to

occupation.

9. Revised Travel Plan to be submitted, agreed and implemented.

10. Arboricultural impact assessment and method statement to be submitted with
reserved matters.

11.Provision of appropriate mix of market and affordable housing in accordance
with adopted SPD.

12.Provision of a scheme for 5% of the dwellings to be accessible and adaptable
homes

13. Details of all external materials to be agreed.

14.Details of site levels/ finished floor levels to be submitted and agreed and
adhered to

15. Surface water drainage scheme to be submitted and agreed and implemented

16. Foul water drainage scheme to be submitted and agreed and implemented

17.Detalls of management of surface water during construction to be submitted and
agreed and adhered to

18. Detalls of long-term maintenance of surface water systems to be submitted and
agreed and adhered to.

19. Infiltration testing to be carried out

20.Revised acoustics assessment to be submitted with reserved matters.

21.Construction Management Plan, including details of construction traffic
management, to be submitted and agreed and adhered to.

©ONO A WN

9

Planning Committee - Thursday, 8 May 2025

Page 11



22.Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for Biodiversity to be
submitted and agreed and adhered to.

23.Revised and updated biodiversity net gain metric to be submitted with reserved
matters

24.Biodiversity Enhancement Plan to be submitted, incorporating recommendations
and mitigation strategy in submitted ecology reports, including replacement
pond.

25.Replacement hedgerow to northern boundary of site where removal required to
provide access.

26. External lighting scheme for public areas to be submitted and agreed and
adhered to.

27.Waste collection strategy to be submitted and agreed and adhered to.

28. Structural/condition survey of farm’s traditional buildings to be submitted with
reserved matters. The Kingstand Farmhouse building is to be protected and
retained.

29.Level 2 historic building recording of Kingstand Farm

30.Reserved matters scheme for farmyard adjacent to Kingstand Farmhouse to be
in accordance with agreed parameters.

31.South-eastern area of site (as indicated to be ridge and furrow area on
illustrative Concept Plan) to be retained as open land with no built development.

32.Scheme for installation of heritage interpretation panels to be submitted and
adhered to.

33.Programme of archaeological work to be undertaken, informed by a written
scheme of investigation, to be submitted and agreed.

34.Asbestos survey, remediation method statement, verification plan and
verification report to be submitted

35.Reporting of unexpected contamination

Considered — Report of the Development Services Team Leader.
24/0976/0UT

Mr and Mrs Anthony and Linda Hatson and Moore

Outline application for 9 new dwellings (access and layout only, all other
matters reserved) and demolition of dwelling.

2 Spring Gardens, Sapcote

Public Speaking

Pursuant to Part 4, Section 7 of the Council’s Constitution in relation to public rights
of participation in planning applications, the Chairman allowed the following to give a
5 minute presentation:

e Karen Brightman — Agent from Marrons

10

Planning Committee - Thursday, 8 May 2025

Page 12



DECISION

THAT APPLICATION 24/0976/0UT BE REFUSED FOR THE FOLLOWING
REASONS:

1. The application proposes the development of 9 detached dwellings on land
designated as Countryside on Blaby District Council's adopted Local Plan
Policies Map 2019 and as Local Green Space under Policy FV5 of the Fosse
Villages Neighbourhood Plan. Policy CS18 of the Blaby District Local Plan Core
Strategy (2013) states that planning permission will not be granted for built
development, or other development which would have an adverse impact on the
character and appearance of the landscape. The proposal would represent an
unwarranted encroachment of development beyond the edge of the built-up area
of Sapcote representing visual intrusion in the Countryside. Policy FV5 of the
Fosse Villages Neighbourhood Plan does not support development on Local
Green Spaces that would harm the openness or special character, significance
or value to the community and dividing the site for 9 dwellings would not comply
with the aims of Policy FV5. It is concluded that the benefits of the provision of 9
new dwellings would not outweigh the identified harm. Accordingly, the
application fails to accord the relevant provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and planning practice guidance, Policies CS1, CS2, CS5 and CS18
of the Blaby District Local Plan (Core Strategy) Development Plan Document,
Policy DM2 of the Blaby District Local Plan (Delivery) Development Plan
Document and Policies FV5 and FV8 of the Fosse Villages Neighbourhood Plan.

2. The proposed development would result in the loss of allotment land. It has not
been demonstrated whether the loss of the allotments in Sapcote would result in
an overall shortage in Sapcote or within walking distance. It has also not been
demonstrated whether the land is needed for another type of open space, sport
or recreation, or whether alternative provision can be provided in the local area
to compensate the loss. It is considered therefore that the loss of the use of this
green space would be unacceptable and would fail to accord with the Open
Spaces Audit (2019),Policy CS15 (as updated) of the Blaby District Local Plan
(Delivery) Development Plan Document and Policy FV5 of the Fosse Villages
Neighbourhood Plan.

3. The applicant has failed to demonstrate that safe and suitable access for all
users would be provided as required by paragraph 115 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (2024), Policy CS2 of the Blaby District Local Plan (Core
Strategy) Development Plan Document, Policy DM8 of the Blaby District Local
Plan (Delivery) Development Plan Document and Policy FV6 of the Fosse
Villages Neighbourhood Plan.

4. Under the statutory framework for Biodiversity Net Gain, development must

deliver at least 10% increase in biodiversity relative to the pre-development
biodiversity value of the onsite habitat. The applicant has provided insufficient

11

Planning Committee - Thursday, 8 May 2025

Page 13



12

information to demonstrate that the biodiversity objective would be met.
Furthermore, a S106 agreement has not been submitted to secure off-site gains
on land outside the development site and to secure the necessary local authority
monitoring payment. Accordingly, the application fails to accord with the statutory
framework for Biodiversity Net Gain, the National Planning Policy Framework,
the relevant planning practice guidance, Policy FV4 of the Fosse Villages
Neighbourhood Plan, the Blaby District Council Planning Obligations and
Developer Contributions SPD and Policies CS12 and CS19 of the Blaby District
Local Plan (Core Strategy) Development Plan Document.

The applicant has provided insufficient information as regards the potential
impacts of the development on protected species and the scope to avoid or
mitigate any impacts. Accordingly, the proposal fails to accord with the provisions
in the National Planning Policy Framework and planning practice guidance
relating to conserving and enhancing the natural environment, Policy CS19 of
the Blaby District Local Plan (Core Strategy) Development Plan Document and
Policy FV4 of the Fosse Villages Neighbourhood Plan.

The layout of the proposal provides an unacceptably designed development. The
irregular area of the site and location of the access results in an excessive
internal roadway alongside plot 1 and the layout fails to present a “fair face” to
the surrounding land and roads. The layout fails to ensure the trees and
hedgerows can be retained and enhanced in a manner which would not result in
implications for useable private amenity space on plots 3, 4, 5 and 6 and without
overshadowing the dwellings on plots 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9. Accordingly, the proposal
does not accord with the provisions in the National Planning Policy Framework
and planning practice guidance relating to design quality, Policies CS2 and CS18
of the Blaby District Local Plan (Core Strategy) Development Plan Document,
Policy DM2 of the Blaby District Local Plan (Delivery) Development Plan
Document and Policies FV6 and FV8 of the Fosse Villages Neighbourhood Plan.

The applicant has failed to demonstrate that the layout and design of the
development would enable the District Council's refuse vehicles to enter and turn
around safely within the site to collect household waste to fulfil their statutory
duties and the layout does not make provision for adequate and suitably located
bin collection points. Accordingly the proposal fails to accord with the provisions
in the National Planning Policy Framework and planning practice guidance in
relation to quality of design, Policy CS2 of the Blaby District Local Plan (Core
Strategy) Development Plan Document, Policy FV6 of the Fosse Villages
Neighbourhood Plan, Policy DM8 of the Blaby District Local Plan (Delivery)
Development Plan Document and the Blaby District Council Waste Storage and
Collection Guidance for New Developments.

THE MEETING CONCLUDED AT 6.58 P.M.

Planning Committee - Thursday, 8 May 2025

Page 14



Agenda Item 4

Blaby District Council
Planning Committee

Date of Meeting 5 June 2025
Title of Report Applications for Determination

Report Author Development Services Manager

1. What is this report about?

1.1 To determine planning applications as listed in paragraph 3.2 below and
detailed in the attached report.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the recommendations listed within paragraph 3.2 below and detailed in
the attached report be approved.

3. Matters to consider

3.1 To avoid unnecessary delay in the processing of planning applications, the
recommendations included in this list must often be prepared in advance of
the closing date for the receipt of representations. This list was prepared on
27 May 2025 and information of representations received will be updated at
your meeting. This updating will also cover any other information which may
come to hand in the intervening period. Closing dates are given where they fall
on or after the day of preparation of the list.

3.2  Application No. Page Address Recommendation
No.
24/0559/0UT 17 Land At Croft Lodge  APPROVE
Farm, Broughton
Road, Croft

3.3 Appropriate Consultations

Details of organisations / persons consulted in relation to the applications are
included in the reports for each individual application. Members will be aware
that full copies of correspondence received are available to view on the
respective planning file and through the planning portal:

Search for Applications — Blaby District Council

Page 15


https://www.blaby.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-applications/search-for-applications/

3.4 Resource Implications

There are no specific financial implications arising from the contents of this
report.

4. Other options considered

These are included where appropriate as part of the reports relating to each
individual application.

5. Background paper(s)

Background papers are contained in files held in the Planning Division for
each application being considered and are available for public inspection.

6. Report author’s contact details
Kristy Ingles Development Services Manager
Stephen Dukes Strategic Growth Manager
planning@blaby.gov.uk 0116 272 7705

Page 16



24/0559/0UT  Registered Date Bellway Homes Limited

22 July 2024 and John Louis Massarella

Outline planning application for the erection of up to 95
dwellings (Use Class C3) and associated infrastructure, public
open space and landscaping with all matters reserved except
access (to entail works to existing site access and the creation
of an additional access to serve the car boot sale operations on
land to the south).

Land At Croft Lodge Farm, Broughton Road, Croft
Report Author: Stephen Dukes,

Strategic Growth Manager
Contact Details: Council Offices. Tel: 0116 2727520

RECOMMENDATION:

THAT APPLICATION 24/0559/0UT BE APPROVED SUBJECT TO THE
APPLICANT ENTERING INTO AN AGREEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 106 OF
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT TO SECURE THE FOLLOWING:

25% provision of affordable housing

Secondary education contribution

Library facilities contribution

Civic amenity and waste facilities contribution

Health care facilities contribution

Police contribution

On-site open space and future maintenance

Off-site sports facilities contribution

Community facilities contribution

Travel Packs

Bus Passes

Travel Plan monitoring fee contribution

Traffic Regulation Order consultation fee

Off-site Biodiversity Net Gain provision and monitoring fee
Recycling and refuse contribution (wheeled bins)

S106 monitoring contributions — District and County Councils

AND SUBJECT TO THE IMPOSITION OF CONDITIONS RELATING TO THE
FOLLOWING:

1.

aprown

2-year time limit for submission of reserved matters. Development to begin
within 4 years of date of permission or 2 years from reserved matters approval
(whichever is the latter).

Reserved Matters details to be submitted.

Development to be in accordance with approved plans

No approval to illustrative masterplan.

Maximum number of dwellings not to exceed 95

Page 17



© N

10.
11.

12.
13.
14.

15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.

25.
26.

27.
28.
29.
30.

31.
32.

Dwellings to not exceed two and a half storeys in height

Landscaping scheme to be implemented.

Provision of appropriate mix of market and affordable housing in accordance
with adopted SPD.

Provision of a scheme for 5% of the dwellings to be accessible and adaptable
homes

Details of all external materials to be agreed.

Details of site levels/ finished floor levels to be submitted and agreed and
adhered to

Surface water drainage scheme to be submitted and agreed and implemented
Foul water drainage scheme to be submitted and agreed and implemented
Details of management of surface water during construction to be submitted
and agreed and adhered to

Details of long-term maintenance of surface water systems to be submitted and
agreed and adhered to.

Infiltration testing to be carried out

Access arrangements and off-site highway works to be implemented in full
Vehicular visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 59 metres to be provided at site
accesses.

Pedestrian visibility splays of 1.0 by 1.0 metres to be provided at site accesses.
Construction Management Plan to be submitted and agreed and adhered to.
Amended Travel Plan to be submitted and agreed and adhered to.

Details of provision of relocated bus stop to be submitted and agreed and
thereafter implemented.

Construction Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity to be submitted
and agreed and adhered to.

Updated badger survey to be submitted and approved if development does not
commence within 6 months and any mitigation measures adhered to.

Bat friendly lighting scheme to be submitted and agreed

Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan to be submitted and agreed and
adhered to.

Aboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan including tree
protection measures for hedgerows and trees during construction to be
submitted, agreed and adhered to.

Waste collection strategy to be submitted and agreed and adhered to.

Phase 2 Land Contamination Report to be submitted and agreed and any
recommendations adhered to.

Reporting of unexpected contamination

Mitigation measures in the Noise Impact Assessment Report to be adhered to.
Prior to the first dwelling being occupied, the kennels at Croft Lodge Farm shall
be permanently closed.

Page 18



NOTES TO COMMITTEE

Relevant Planning Policies

Blaby District Local Plan (Core Strategy) Development Plan Document (2013)
Policy CS1 — Strategy for locating new development

Policy CS2 — Design of new development

Policy CS5 — Housing distribution

Policy CS7 — Affordable housing

Policy CS8 — Mix of housing

Policy CS10 — Transport infrastructure

Policy CS11 — Infrastructure, services and facilities to support growth
Policy CS12 — Planning obligations and developer contributions
Policy CS14 — Green infrastructure

Policy CS15 — Open space, sport and recreation

Policy CS18 - Countryside

Policy CS19 — Biodiversity and geo-diversity

Policy CS20 — Historic Environment and Culture

Policy CS21 — Climate change

Policy CS22 — Flood risk management

Policy CS23 - Waste

Policy CS24 — Presumption in favour of sustainable development

Blaby District Local Plan (Delivery) Development Plan Document (2019)
Updated Policy CS15 — Open space, sport and recreation

Policy DM2 — Development in the Countryside

Policy DM4 — Connection to Digital Infrastructure

Policy DM8 — Local Parking and Highway Design Standards

Policy DM11 — Accessible and Adaptable Homes

Policy DM12 — Designated and Non-designated Heritage Assets

Policy DM13 — Land Contamination and Pollution

Policy DM14 — Hazardous Sites and Installations

Policy DM15 — Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2019)
Policy M11 — Safeguarding of Mineral Resources

Fosse Villages Neighbourhood Plan (2021)
Policy FV1 — Road Traffic

Policy FV3 — Bus Services

Policy FV4 — Biodiversity

Policy FV6 — Design

Policy FV7 — Housing Provision

Policy FV8 — Windfall Housing

Policy FV12 — Housing Mix

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

Page 19



Other Supporting Documents

National Design Guide - Planning practice guidance for beautiful, enduring and
successful places

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations
2017 (as amended)

Leicestershire Highways Design Guide

Blaby District Council Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions
Supplementary Planning Document (2024)

Blaby District Council Housing Mix and Affordable Housing Supplementary
Planning Document (2013)

Blaby Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment (2020)
Blaby District Council Open Space Audit (December 2015)

Blaby Playing Pitch Strategy 2020

Blaby Residential Land Availability Report (March 2023)

Joint Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Final Report (October 2014)

Blaby Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA)
2019

Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area Housing and Economic Land
Availability Assessment (SHELAA) 2019

Leicester and Leicestershire Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA)
2022

Consultation Summary

Active Travel England — No comments

Blaby District Council, Active Travel Advisor — Makes comments in relation to the
active travel measures, including bus connections and cycling and walking.

Blaby District Council, Environmental Services — Makes comments in relation to
Land Contamination, Flooding, Drainage, Noise and Disturbance, and Impact of
Construction.

Blaby District Council, Health and Leisure — Requests a total developer contribution
of £167,122 to be used for new or improved off-site sports facilities to cater for the
additional demand generated by the development. Recommendation of the
contribution being used for improvements to pitch quality at Sapcote Sports Ground,

Page 20



and a contribution to a new 3G pitch and ancillary facilities at Stoney Stanton War
Memorial Playing Fields.

Blaby District Council, Housing Strategy — Recommends a preferred mix of
affordable and market units.

Blaby District Council, Neighbourhood Services - Makes comments in relation to
the servicing of the site by the District Council’'s Refuse and Recycling collection
vehicles.

Croft Parish Council — Makes the following comments:

“Croft Parish Council raise no objection to this proposal, but wish to make a number
of comments that need to be considered as part of the determination of this application.

Highway Matters

Relocation of 30 mph zone

The Parish Council welcome the relocation of the 30 mph zone to the south of the new
car boot sale access. However, it is considered that appropriate signage is required to
clearly illustrate this as the gateway into the village, rather than just a larger speed
limit sign and a simple ‘croft village’ sign. Other villages have timber or stone access
features, and given the rural setting of the village and the need to recognise this as
the gateway between the countryside and village, clear notation should be provided.

Speed control measures

The inclusion of chicanes to control speeds on the approach to the village are
welcomed, subject to Leicestershire County Council confirming that the suggested
positioning is safe for all users. The clearance width also needs to be sufficient to
enable double decker buses and any farm vehicles access. The annotations on the
plans state that single decker buses will be able to pass through the chicanes.
However, double decker buses serve the secondary school collection every day, whilst
on occasion double decker buses are deployed on the X84 route along Broughton
Road. It is vital to ensure that the speed control measures do not hamper the ability
for all road users to access the village.

In terms of traffic within Croft, it has been recognised for many years by the Parish
Council that there are three areas of concern:

- Speeding traffic along Broughton Road;

- Speeding traffic along Arbor Road; and

- Conflict between traffic at the interchange of Station Road, Broughton Road and
Arbor Road due to the lack of visibility caused by the railway bridge.

It is recognised that highway works can only be requested to resolve issues that are
exacerbated directly as a result of the planning application; as such it is noted that
works to Broughton Road are proposed (and welcomed).

However, as per the traffic flow diagrams contained within Appendix B of the Transport

Statement, there will be increased movements along Broughton Road/Station Road
as a result of this development. Moreover, if the traffic chicanes are too successful, it

Page 21



may result in rerouted traffic along Arbor Road and thus increase in the conflict with
this junction on Station Road/Broughton Road. The issue is the lack of forward visibility
in a southern direction on Station Road at the bridge, such that there have been
serious collisions with vehicles turning right out of Arbor Road. Any increase to this
risk should be appropriately mitigated. Inclusion of a 20 mph zone across the
bridge/this section of highway and removal of the central white line (to amend the
perception of space) are simple measures that could make a significant difference to
the safety of this highway section.

Visibility splays for new car boot access

The current speed limit on this section of road is 50 mph and the proposal seeks to
reduce it to 30 mph. The proposed 2.4 x 54m visibility splays however do not align
with either the existing or proposed speed limits. It is considered that the plan should
accurately reflect the necessary visibility splays, and if this is considered to be at 50
mph, then it will be important to ensure that the full splay can be delivered.

Lighting to extended 30 mph zone

As part of the proposals, it is noted that street lighting will be provided along Broughton
Road within the whole 30 mph zone. This needs to be read in conjunction with the
recommendations of the ecological report which at paragraph 4.36 identifies the need
to protect dark corridors. The ecological surveys have noted extensive use of the area
by bats and clearly providing around 230 metres of additional lighting southwards into
the countryside will negatively impact nocturnal foraging and activity patterns of bats
and other fauna. Lighting should be limited to within the built envelope itself, and not
where there are no formal footpaths.”

(Additional response) — requests that the contribution identified by the Council’s Health
and Leisure team be used for facilities within the village of Croft rather than towards
new or improved facilities in Sapcote and Stoney Stanton. Requests money be used
for a pump track at Croft Pavilion (off Winston Avenue, Croft), the estimated cost of
which is £145,000.

(Further additional response) — provided additional information to justify the offsite
sports facilities contribution being used for a pump track in Croft rather than sports
facilities outside the village. Also, requests a contribution for improvements to the
pavilion building to enable it to be brought up to a standard where it can be used by
future residents.

Health and Safety Executive — Does not advise, on safety grounds, against the
granting of planning permission.

Leicestershire County Council, Archaeology

(Initial response) — Required provision by the applicant for a topographic survey of the
extant ridge and furrow earthworks, and a field evaluation including trial trenching to
identify and locate any archaeological remains of significance and propose suitable
treatment to avoid or minimise damage by the development.

(Revised response) — Advises that the submitted Written Scheme of Investigation
proposes a satisfactory programme of archaeological work which, upon completion,
will meet the requirements for the initial investigation of the development site.

Page 22



(Further revised response) — Comments that an evaluation report and earthworks
survey recording the extant ridge and furrow remains have been submitted. Given the
level of earthwork preservation (particularly the northern parcel) and the flexibility
afforded as an outline scheme, the applicant is encouraged to consider opportunities
to accommodate the earthworks within areas of green space (although this is not
recommended to be made a requirement of any planning permission). Having
reviewed the earthwork survey and trial trenching report it is recommended that no
further archaeological work is required.

Leicestershire County Council, Developer Contributions — No objections.
Requests the following contributions to mitigate the impacts of the development:
e Libraries - £2,868.78
Primary Education - £0.00
Secondary Education - £9,456.40
Post 16 Education - £0.00
Waste - £2,267.65
Monitoring Fees

Leicestershire County Council, Ecology

(Initial response) — recommends the on-site habitat assessment is repeated at optimal
time of year (May to Sept), requests further details of the offsite biodiversity component
to be provided including baseline ecological assessment, requests that no works
commence until a Construction Environment Management Plan is agreed, requests a
Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan is agreed covering a 30 year period,
requests that update badger surveys are undertaken should works not commence
within 6 months, and requests a bat-friendly sensitive lighting plan.

(Revised response) — Considers the ecological appraisal to be satisfactory for outline
application. Recommends conditions relating to Construction Environmental
Management Plan, bat friendly lighting scheme, updated badger surveys, and Habitat
Management and Monitoring Plan.

Leicestershire County Council, Forestry — No comments received

Leicestershire County Council, Highways

(Initial response) — commented that the application did not fully assess the highway
impact of the development. Requests an amended Travel Plan, amendments to the
location of chicanes on Broughton Road, additional street lighting, improved visibility
splays from the access to cater for farm traffic, clarification of swept path analysis,
clarification on the use of the car boot access by HGVs, reconsideration of trip
generation data in the AM peak, and additional junction modelling work.

(Revised response) — considers that further information is still required to demonstrate
whether a safe and suitable access to the site could be achieved for all users, and to
adequately demonstrate whether the proposed development would have a significant
impact on the transport network and on highway safety. Requests further junction
modelling for the Foxhunter Roundabout.

Page 23



(Eurther revised response) — considers that the impacts of the development on
highway safety would not be unacceptable and the impacts on the road network would
not be severe. Conditions are recommended requiring the access arrangements and
off-site highway works to be implemented, requiring vehicular and pedestrian visibility
splays, the agreement of a construction traffic management plan, and an amended
Travel Plan. Contributions are also sought for Travel Plan monitoring, Travel Packs,
Bus Passes and a Traffic Regulation Order for the proposed relocation of the 30mph
entry speed and traffic calming features on Broughton Road.

Leicestershire County Council, Lead Local Flood Authority
(Initial response) — Further consultation required — requested the following:
- Formal evidence that there is no developer control over the proposed outfall
location;
- Details of the downstream connectivity for the point of discharge;
- Consideration of additional source control SuDS;
- Clarification that the existing watercourse will be retained as open channel
except in location where it is required to be culverted (i.e. highway crossings).

(Revised response) — Considers the proposals are acceptable and recommends
planning conditions for surface water drainage scheme, management of surface water
during construction, long term maintenance of surface water drainage and infiltration
testing.

Leicestershire County Council, Minerals and Waste Authority
(Initial response) — Commented that a Mineral Assessment of the proposed
development is required on the mineral resource beneath or adjacent to the site.

(Revised response) — No objections - Having considered the Mineral Resource
Assessment, notes the conclusion that the mineral is not viable with the site not being
located upon any identified sand and gravel deposit.

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue — No comments.

Leicestershire Police

(Initial response) — Makes comments in relation to measures to design out crime and
makes an expression of interest in relation to a bid of Section 106 funding due to the
additional demand the development will generate on local policing.

(Revised response) - Requests a contribution of £20,090 to mitigate the additional
impacts of this development because the Force’s existing infrastructure will not have
the capacity to meet with new demand. The request covers funding for:

- Set up equipment costs

- Infrastructure and estate support

- Police vehicles and charging points

- Automatic Number Plate Recognition/ CCTV and Identification Technology

- Crime Reduction Initiatives

(Further revised response) — Contribution reduced to £18,173.10, to cover the same
five areas.

Page 24



National Gas Transmission
(Initial response) — Development must not proceed without further assessment from
Asset Protection.

(Revised response) — The proposed dwellings fall outside the pipe easement and
Building Proximity Distance of 76 metres but within the 4 x Building Proximity Distance
of 304 metres. However, the development risk has now been assessed and is
considered acceptable to National Gas Transmission.

NHS, Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Integrated Care Board — Requests a
contribution of £73,568.00 for use at any of the named GP surgeries and/or to develop
alternative primary/ community healthcare infrastructure that will be directly impacted
due to the increase in population linked to this housing development.

Severn Trent Water — No comments received

Third Party Representations

19 representations were received, 18 of which objected to the application and 1 in
support.

The comments received are summarised below:

Objecting

- Development not needed

- Croft is a small village

- School is over-subscribed and not big enough to take more pupils

- Roads will be dangerous if more houses built

- Already too much traffic on Broughton Road and vehicles speed

- Destroying green fields

- Lack of amenities in Croft

- No doctor’s surgery or dentist in village

- Wildlife habitats will be impacted

- Speed limits should be reduced to 20mph

- Broughton Road/ Arbor Road and Broughton Road/ Coventry Road junctions
need revising with traffic lights or roundabout.

- Previous severe traffic incident on railway bridge

- Need for enough car parking in the development

- Could spinney be kept

- Storm drains and overflows should not pollute the River Soar

- Swift boxes/ bat boxes should be compulsory

- Increase in pollution and noise

- New access to car boot is on a dangerous corner

- Development would alter character of village, with loss of heritage and identity.

- Disruption to social cohesion of close-knit community

- May be alternative locations for development that would not compromise
village’s resources and infrastructure

- Waste water from Croft is sent to Stoney Stanton Treatment Works and there
is no room to expand and treatment works will not cope with additional waste
water.

Page 25



- Discharges of untreated sewage take place just 700 metres upstream of where
the River Soar flows through the Croft Pastures Nature Reserve.

- Concerns about additional traffic trying to cross B4114 dual carriageway to
Broughton Road.

- Flashing speed sign on B4114 broken — was reported 2 years ago but still not
working.

- Traffic queuing for car boot site could queue back onto B4114.

- If the development goes ahead a footpath should be extended from the
development site to the B4114 — this is a missing section between Croft and
the footpath to Sutton EIms and Broughton.

- Financial contributions through Section 106 should be made clear.

- Secondary school is over subscribed.

- Public transport to village is not sufficient — hourly service to Leicester and
Lutterworth and no buses after 6pm

- The speed calming near the site will have no effect further along the road
towards the village centre

- Potential flooding to Broughton Road

- Croft does have shops but parking on Pochin Street can be difficult

- Better use should be made of brownfield sites.

- Access to the car boot site should be from the other side of the car boot site,
away from residential areas.

- Any infrastructure, such as street lighting, should be designed to maintain the
rural character of the area.

- Proposed construction period will impact on vulnerable and disabled people
living in properties on Sparkenhoe — including impact of noise and dust

- Strict hours of work should be imposed

- Bottom of Sopers Road completely floods during heavy rainfall — additional 95
houses could make this worse.

Supporting
- Development will provide extra job opportunities for local residents

- Extra housing benefits younger couples
- School would benefit from increase in pupil numbers

Relevant History

90/0703/1/PX — Conversion of part of agricultural building into farm shop

99/0023/1/PY — Proposed cattery consisting of 15 blocks of 2/3 cat pens and store
shed

04/0320/1/PX — Change of use of redundant agricultural building to boarding kennels

05/0710/1/PY — Change of use of boarding kennels to retail to allow sale of animal
feeds

10/0294/1/PY — Retention of internal access road to Croft Car Boot

12/0511/1/PX — Relocate existing cattery into animal feed sales area within dog
boarding building.

Page 26



EXPLANATORY NOTE
The Site

The application site is located to the south of the village of Croft and is approximately
400 metres north of the B4114 Fosse Way. The site covers an irregular parcel of land
measuring 4.49 hectares and comprises largely of arable fields and horse paddocks
which are subdivided by low-rise post and rail fencing and native hedgerows. To the
southwest is an area of woodland which falls outside of the application site and is
proposed to be retained.

Access to the site is from Broughton Road to the east and the existing access serves
the kennels business at Croft Lodge Farm and two adjacent residential properties to
the west of the site and also the car boot sales area to the south. A private driveway
runs through the site, providing access to both businesses. The site is relatively flat
with a gradual slope from the north to the eastern boundary. To the north and
northeast of the site are a number of residential properties. The age and nature of
these properties is mixed, with more recent development directly adjacent to the site
to the east (Poplars Road) and northeast (Windsor Gardens), with properties from the
1980s to 90s situated along Broughton Road. The majority of the existing dwellings
consist of two-storey semi-detached and detached dwellings, however there are
bungalows on Poplars Road and Sopers Road.

The site is located outside of, but immediately adjoining the Settlement Boundary of
Croft, a ‘Medium Central Village’ as defined in the Core Strategy and is classified as
Countryside in the Policies Map within the Blaby District Local Plan (Delivery)
Development Plan Document.

The Proposal

The application seeks outline planning permission for the proposed development of
up to 95 residential units (Use Class C3) with all matters reserved, except access.
The proposed development includes two access points onto Broughton Road. The
existing access located to the north of the site will be retained and upgraded to serve
the dwellings and a new access is proposed in the south of the site which will connect
to the existing farm track to provide a separate vehicular route to the car boot sales
area.

An illustrative masterplan has been provided to demonstrate how the 95 dwellings
could be accommodated on the site, with semi-detached and detached properties at
an overall density of approximately 35 dwellings per hectare. It is anticipated that
approximately 2.7 ha of the 4.49 ha site (60%) will be used to deliver new housing,
with 1.8 ha (40%) accommodating open space and surface water attenuation areas.

Supporting Documents
As an application for outline planning permission, detailed layout plans, floor plans and

elevations have not been submitted for consideration at this stage. Nevertheless,
consideration is still required as to the principle and amount of development proposed.

Page 27



The key plans and documents are listed below which set out the development
proposed:

e Planning application form
e Location Plan

e lllustrative Masterplan

e Site Access Layout

e Car Boot Access Drawing
e Open Space Plan

The application is also supported by the following documents which provide further
technical information on specific matters:

Agricultural Land Classification Report
Archaeological and Heritage Assessment
Ecological Appraisal

Flood Risk Assessment

Landscape and Visual Appraisal

Noise Impact Assessment

Phase 1 Geo-Environmental Assessment
Quantitative Risk Assessment for Gas Pipeline
Sustainability Appraisal

Sustainable Drainage Statement
Transport Assessment

Travel Plan

Tree Survey

Utilities Statement

Mineral Resource Assessment

Written Scheme of Investigation for Archaeological Evaluation
Archaeological Evaluation Report

Flood Risk Sequential Test

RGB and Multispectral Landscape Survey
Planning Statement

Biodiversity Metric

Design and Access Statement

Highways Technical Note

Environmental Impact Assessment

The proposed development is not considered to fall within Schedule 2 of the Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as
amended) as although it is categorised as an urban development project (10(b)), it
comprises of less than 150 dwellings, and the site area does not exceed 5 hectares.
As such, there was no requirement for the application to request an Environmental
Impact Assessment Screening Opinion from the District Planning Authority.

Page 28



Planning Policy

National Planning Policy Framework

The National Planning Policy Framework establishes the key principles for proactively
delivering sustainable development through the development plan system and the
determination of planning applications. It sets out that the purpose of the planning
system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. At a very high
level, the objective of sustainable development can be summarised as meeting the
needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet
their own needs.

Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three
overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually
supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each
of the different objectives). These objectives are:

e An economic objective
e A social objective
e An environmental objective

For decision-taking this means:

e approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development
plan without delay; or

e where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which
are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting
permission unless:

i.  the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets
of particular importance provides a strong reason for refusing the
development proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this
Framework taken as a whole, having particular regard to key policies for
directing development to sustainable locations, making effective use of
land, securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes,
individually or in combination.

Paragraph 2 of the NPPF identifies that planning law requires that applications for
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Paragraph 2 also indicates that the
NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions.

Paragraph 10 of the NPPF and Policy CS1 and CS24 of the Blaby District Council
Core Strategy (2013) set out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, and
states that development proposals that accord with the Development Plan should be
approved unless other material considerations indicate otherwise.

Page 29



Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out a presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development. It states that plans and decisions should apply this presumption,
especially when there are no relevant policies in the Development Plan or when the
relevant policies are 'out of date'. In such cases, permission should be granted unless
there is a clear reason for refusal, or the adverse impacts would significantly outweigh
the benefits.

The Council has reviewed and published an updated housing land supply position in
August 2024. This confirms that the Council cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of
deliverable sites. As of 31 March 2024, the District wide housing land supply position

is 3.53 years, notably less than the five-year supply requirement in the NPPF. Following
the publication of the revised NPPF in December 2024 and the Council’s revised housing numbers, the land supply
position is likely to have significantly reduced below 3.53 years.

As a consequence, Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is triggered. Paragraph 11(d) of the
NPPF, provides that permission should be granted unless adverse impacts would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
polices in the NPPF as a whole.

There are no assets or particular importance (as listed in footnote 7 of the NPPF)
which provide a clear reason for refusing the application. It is therefore necessary to
assess the proposals against limb two of paragraph 11d, i.e. whether the adverse
effects of granting planning permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.
Footnote 8 of Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that the housing policies are to be out-
of-date where local planning authorities cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of
deliverable housing sites.

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that the presumption in favour of sustainable
development does not change the statutory status of the Development Plan as the
starting point for decision making. Where planning applications conflict with an up-to-
date plan, permission should not usually be granted unless other material
considerations indicate otherwise.

Paragraph 61 of the NPPF says to support the government’s objective of significantly
boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of
land can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific
housing requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed
without unnecessary delay. The overall aim should be to meet as much of an area’s
identified housing need as possible, including with an appropriate mix of housing types
for the local community.

Paragraph 79 of the NPPF says local planning authorities should identify and update
annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of 5
years’ worth of housing. The supply should be demonstrated against either the
housing requirement set out in adopted strategic policies, or against the local housing
need where the strategic policies are more than 5 years old.

Paragraph 81 of the NPPF says that to help ensure that proposals for housing

Page 30



development are implemented in a timely manner, local planning authorities should
consider imposing a planning condition providing that development must begin within
a timescale shorter than the relevant default period, where this would expedite the
development without threatening its deliverability or viability.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Blaby District Local Plan (Core Strategy) Development Plan Document (2013)

The adopted Core Strategy (February 2013) is part of the Development Plan for the
District of Blaby.

The Council cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable sites. As this
proposal involves the provision of housing, the application is being considered in terms
of its accordance with NPPF paragraph 11d and other material considerations.

Policy CS1 — Strateqy for locating new development

Policy CS1 sets out the overall strategy for locating new development in the district. It
states that most new development will take place within and adjoining the Principal
Urban Area (PUA) of Leicester. Outside of the PUA it states that development will be
focused within and adjoining Blaby and the Larger Central Villages (Enderby,
Narborough, Whetstone and Countesthorpe), with lower levels of growth being
allowed in the Rural Centre, Medium Central Villages and Smaller Villages where the
scale of development will reflect the settlement’s range of available services and
facilities and public transport alternatives. Croft is categorised as a Medium Central
Village in the settlement hierarchy.

Policy CS2 — Design of new development

Policy CS2 seeks to ensure that a high quality, safe and socially inclusive environment
is achieved in all new development proposals, respecting distinctive local character
and contributing towards creating places of high architectural and urban design quality.
New development should also provide opportunities to enhance the natural and
historic environment.

Policy CS5 — Housing distribution

Policy CS5 provides the minimum housing requirements for settlements across the
District. Collectively, the Medium Central Villages (Littlethorpe, Huncote, Cosby, Croft
and Sapcote) have a combined housing figure of 815 dwellings across the local plan
period (2006 to 2029).

Policy CS7 — Affordable housing

Policy CS7 states that the Council will seek to secure a minimum of 25% of the total
number of dwellings as affordable housing on all developments of 15 or more
dwellings. Affordable housing should be provided on site unless there are exceptional
circumstances preventing this. To ensure mixed and sustainable communities,
residential development should integrate affordable and market housing through the

Page 31



dispersal of affordable housing units within residential development and use a
consistent standard of design quality. The tenure split and mix of house types for all
affordable housing will remain flexible and will be assessed on a site-by-site basis,
although affordable housing should be integrated into each phase and sub-phase of
development.

Policy CS8 — Mix of housing

Policy CS8 states that residential proposals for developments of 10 or more dwellings
should provide an appropriate mix of housing type (house, flat, bungalow, etc.), tenure
(owner-occupied, rented, intermediate) and size (bedroom numbers) to meet the
needs of existing and future households in the District, taking into account the latest
Strategic Housing Market Assessment and other evidence of local need. The Council
will encourage all housing to be built to ‘Lifetime Homes’ standards, where feasible.

Policy CS10 — Transport Infrastructure

Policy CS10 refers to seeking to reduce the need to travel by private car by locating
new development so that people can access services and facilities without reliance on
‘private motor vehicles’. The policy also refers to providing new routes for pedestrians,
cyclists and public transport (as part of development proposals). Designs which
reduce the impact of road traffic should be encouraged, for example through greater
allocation of street space to more sustainable forms of transport, and links to existing
key services and facilities should be provided.

The policy states that the Council will seek solutions for improving public transport that
are likely to be sustainable in the long term. Developments should seek frequent,
accessible and comprehensive public transport links to Leicester City Centre and other
key service/ employment centres and facilities. Other measures such as discounted
bus ticketing for residents of new developments will be required where appropriate. In
relation to residential parking, it states that the Council will be flexible in the
implementation of residential parking standards. Residential developments of 80 or
more houses will require a Transport Assessment, and the Council will require Travel
Plans in accordance with the requirements of the Leicestershire Highways Design
Guide.

Policy CS11 — Infrastructure, Services and Facilities to support growth

Policy CS11 states that new developments must be supported by the required
physical, social and environmental infrastructure at the appropriate time. It states that
the Council will work in partnership with infrastructure providers, grant funders and
other delivery agencies to ensure that development provides the necessary
infrastructure, services and facilities to meet the needs of the community and mitigates
any adverse impacts of development.

Policy CS12 — Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions

Policy CS12 states that where requirements for infrastructure, services and facilities
arising from growth are identified through robust research and evidence, it is expected
that developers will contribute towards their provision (and in some cases

Page 32



maintenance). Planning obligations and developer contributions will be guided by the
Council’s latest Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD and other
evidence of need.

Any requests for contributions must be assessed by the Council under the
requirements of Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010. Section 122 of the
Regulations set out in statute 3 tests against which requests for funding under a
section 106 agreement has to be measured. These tests are that the obligation is:

a. necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

b. directly related to the development; and

c. fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

Policy CS14 — Green Infrastructure

Policy CS14 states that Blaby District Council and its partners will seek to protect
existing, and provide new, ‘networks of multi-functional green spaces’. The proposed
development provides traffic free green infrastructure corridors and other area of
natural green space and informal open space.

Policy CS15 — Open space, sport and recreation

Policy CS15 seeks to ensure that residents have access to sufficient, high quality,
accessible open space, sport and recreation facilities. The policy sets standards for
the provision of open space, sport and recreation per 1000 population, along with
desirable access standards in distance or time. These standards will be used to
ensure that development proposals provide sufficient accessible open space, sport
and recreation, taking into account any local deficiencies. It states that new on-site
provision or financial contributions to improve the quality of, or access to, existing open
space, will be expected and commuted maintenance sums will be sought. The policy
also seeks to protect areas of existing open space from development, unless certain
criteria are met. The policy has now been superseded by Updated Policy CS15 in the
Blaby Delivery DPD.

Policy CS18 — Countryside

Policy CS18 states that within areas designated as Countryside, planning permission
will not be granted for built development, or other development which would have a
significantly adverse effect on the appearance or character of the landscape. It states
that planning permission will, however, be granted for limited small-scale employment
and leisure development (including dwellings essential for these needs) subject to
consideration of its impacts. The need to retain Countryside will be balanced against
the need to provide new development (including housing) in the most sustainable
locations.

Policy CS19 — Bio-diversity and geo-diversity

Policy CS19 seeks to safeguard and enhance sites of ecological and geological
importance of national, regional and local level significance. The policy also states that
the Council will seek to maintain and extend networks of natural habitats to link sites
of biodiversity importance by avoiding or repairing the fragmentation and isolation of

Page 33



natural habitats. The policy also seeks to protect those species which do not receive
statutory protection but have been identified as requiring conservation action.
Development proposals should ensure that these species and their habitats are
protected from the adverse effects of development through the use of appropriate
mitigation measures. The policy also states that the Council will seek to ensure that
opportunities to build in biodiversity or geological features are included as part of the
design of development proposals.

Policy CS20 — Historic Environment and Culture

Policy CS20 states that the Council will take a positive approach to the conservation
of heritage assets and the wider historic environment through protecting and
enhancing heritage assets and their settings and expects new development to make
a positive contribution to the character and distinctiveness of the local area.

Policy CS21 — Climate Change

Policy CS21 states that development which mitigates and adapts to climate change
will be supported. It states that the Council will contribute to achieving national targets
to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by:
a) Focusing new development in the most sustainable locations;
b) Seeking site layout and sustainable design principles which reduce energy
demand and increase efficiency;
c) Encourage the use of renewable, low carbon and decentralised energy.

The policy also states that the Council will ensure that all development minimises
vulnerability and provides resilience to climate change and flooding.

Policy CS22 — Flood risk management

Policy CS22 states that the Council will ensure all development minimises vulnerability
and provides resilience to flooding, taking into account climate change by:
a) Directing development to locations at the lowest risk of flooding;
b) Using Sustainable Drainage Systems to ensure that flood risk is not increased
on site elsewhere;
c) Managing surface water run off to minimise the net increase in surface water
discharged into the public sewer system;
d) Closely consulting the Environment Agency in the management of flood risk.

Policy CS23 — Waste

Policy CS23 states that new developments should, inter alia, seek to encourage waste
minimisation, ensure flexibility in design to allow for new technological developments,
ensure waste collection is considered in the design, and promote the use of site waste
management plans.

Policy CS24 — Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Policy CS24 reflects the overarching principle of the NPPF that the Government
wishes to see in relation to the planning system, with the golden thread running

Page 34



through the decision-making process being the presumption in favour of sustainable
development. Policy CS24 requires that when considering development proposals, the
District Council always work proactively with applicants to find solutions which mean
that proposals can be approved wherever possible.

Officers have worked proactively with the applicant to ensure that the development is
as far as possible to be in accordance with adopted policies and thus the development
is in accordance with Policy CS24.

Blaby District Local Plan (Delivery) Development Plan Document (Delivery DPD)
(2019)

The Delivery DPD also forms part of the Adopted Development Plan for Blaby District.
The following policies are the most relevant to the proposed development.

Updated Policy CS15 — Open space, sport and recreation

This supersedes the Core Strategy Policy CS15 and seeks to ensure that residents
have access to sufficient, high quality, accessible open space, sport and recreation
facilities. The policy has been updated as the Council commissioned an updated
assessment of open space, sport and recreation facilities in the District (Open Space
Audit 2015). The information gained was used to review the locally derived standards,
contained in Policy CS15, to ensure that existing and future communities have access
to sufficient open space, sport and recreation facilities. The standards for the provision
of open space per 1000 population have therefore been updated accordingly. There
are no specific standards for the provision of outdoor sports space, but the Open
Space Audit gives guidance on where there are quantity and quality deficiencies.

Policy DM2 - Development in the Countryside

Policy DM2 states that in areas designated as Countryside on the Policies Map,
development proposals consistent with Core Strategy Policy CS18 will be supported
where specific criteria are met:
a) The development is in keeping with the appearance and character of the
existing landscape, development form and buildings;
b) The development provides a satisfactory relationship with nearby uses that
would not be significantly detrimental to the amenities enjoyed by the existing
Of Nnew occupiers;
c) The development will not undermine the vitality and viability of existing town,
district and local centres.

Policy DM4 — Connection to Digital Infrastructure

Policy DM4 states that all new build major residential and commercial development
should be served by fast, affordable and reliable broadband connection in line with the
latest Government target. It states that developers will liaise with broadband
infrastructure providers to ensure that a suitable connection is made. The wording of
the policy was amended following public examination to state that new development
should be served by this type of infrastructure rather than specifically requiring it. This
was considered necessary to introduce flexibility into the policy given that delivery of

Page 35



a broadband connection would likely be reliant on a third-party contractor over which
a developer is unlikely to have any control.

Policy DM8 — Local Parking and Highway Design Standards

Policy DM8 seeks to provide an appropriate level of parking provision within housing
development which complies with Leicestershire Local Highway Guidance and is
justified by an assessment of the site’s accessibility, type and mix of housing and the
availability of and opportunities for public transport. It states that all new development
will be required to meet highway design standards as set out in the most up-to-date
Leicestershire Local Highway Guidance.

Policy DM11 — Accessible and Adaptable Homes

Policy DM11 requires development proposals for housing of 20 dwellings or more to
meet the Building Regulations Standard M4(2) for 5% of the dwelling unless there are
site specific factors which make the site less suitable for M4(2) compliance dwellings,
and/or where the applicant can demonstrate that the use of this Building Regulation
Standard is not viable through an independent viability assessment to be submitted
with the application.

Amendments were made to the policy during public examination which changed the
threshold for the application of the policy from 10 dwellings to 20 dwellings, and
inserted criteria into the policy to ensure that there is sufficient flexibility in applying the
policy requirement to take account of circumstances where it can be demonstrated
that it would not be viable.

Policy DM12 — Designated and Non-designated Heritage Assets

Policy DM12 states that all new development should seek to avoid harm to the heritage
assets of the District. Development proposals that conserve or enhance the historic
environment will be supported. The policy states that designated heritage assets and
their settings will be given the highest level of protection to ensure that they are
conserved and enhanced in a manner appropriate to their significance and contribution
to the historic environment. Where substantial harm is identified, proposals will only
be supported in exceptional circumstances in accordance with national planning
guidance. Where a less than substantial level of harm is identified, the scale of harm
will be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

Policy DM13 — Land Contamination and Pollution

Policy DM13 states that development proposals will be required to clearly demonstrate
that any unacceptable adverse impacts related to land contamination, landfill, land
stability and pollution (water, air, noise, light and soils) can be satisfactorily mitigated.

Policy DM14 — Hazardous Sites and Installations

Policy DM14 states that development proposals within the consultation zones for
major hazard sites and major hazard pipelines will take account of the requirements

Page 36



to keep separate housing and other land uses that may be incompatible with the major
hazard and prevent damage to major hazard pipelines or installations.

Policy DM15 — Minerals Safequarding Areas

Policy DM15 states that development proposals in areas identified for mineral
safeguarding will need to ensure that mineral resources of national or local
significance are not needlessly sterilised by non-mineral development.
Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2019)

Policy M11 — Safequarding of Mineral Resources

Policy M11 states that applications for non-minerals development within a Minerals
Safeguarding Area will be granted if at least one of the following criteria are met:
(i) The applicant can demonstrate that the mineral concerned is no longer of any
value or potential value
(i) The mineral can be extracted satisfactorily prior to the incompatible
development taking place
(iif) The incompatible development is of a temporary nature and does not inhibit
extract within the timescale that the mineral is likely to be needed
(iv) There is an overriding need for the incompatible development
(v) The development is one of the types of development specified.

Fosse Villages Neighbourhood Plan (2021)

Policy FV1 — Road Traffic

Policy FV1 states that measures that provide reductions in traffic on the B4114 and in
the Fosse Villages will be supported.

Policy FV3 — Bus Services

Policy FV3 states that new residential developments of more than 10 dwellings will be
supported where proposals include a viability statement evidencing the extent to which
the proposals will enhance rural bus services within the Neighbourhood Area.

Policy FV4 — Biodiversity

Policy FV4 states that new development which minimises impacts on and provides net
gains for biodiversity will be supported. New development will be expected to maintain
and enhance existing ecological corridors and landscape features to support
biodiversity.

Policy FV6 — Design

Policy FV6 states that development that reflects the distinctive and traditional
character of the Fosse Villages will be supported. It also sets out other principles
relating to design.

Page 37



Policy FV7 — Housing Provision

Policy FV7 sets out the minimum housing provision for each of the Fosse Villages for
the period 2006 to 2029, to be met through existing commitments and development
within the Limits to Built Development in accordance with Policy FV8 (relating to
Windfall Housing). The minimum figure for Croft is 77 dwellings. As noted earlier, 54
dwellings have been completed in Croft since 2006, with a further 4 commitments
(based on the latest Residential Land Availability Report at 31 March 2024) which is
below this minimum requirement for Croft, although an additional 95 dwellings would
be significantly over the minimum requirement.

Policy FV8 — Windfall Housing

Policy FV8 states proposals for housing development within the Limits to Built
Development of the Fosse Villages will be supported. Outside the Limits to Built
Development, Areas of Separation and Green Wedges, support will be limited to the
stated criteria.

Policy FV12 — Housing Mix

Policy FV12 states that proposals for new housing providing for a mix of housing types
informed by and reflecting the most up to date evidence of housing need will be
supported. Proposals for development of 10 or more dwellings will need to
demonstrate how their proposed mix will meet the need of older households and the
need for smaller, low-cost homes. As an outline application, the housing mix is not
being agreed at this stage.

Croft Settlement Statement

The Fosse Villages Neighbourhood Plan also includes a settlement statement for each
village. This identifies that the population of Croft has been in decline between 2001
and 2011, with a particular decline in the number of young people. It states that with
a primary school, pub, recreation ground, small supermarket and convenience store
(with post office) there is a reasonable level of services and facilities in the village.
There is considered to be a need for affordable rented properties in the village.
Affordable homes built at Poplars Road in 2011 were very popular.

Leicestershire Highways Design Guide

The Design Guide sets out the County Council’s principles and polices for highways
Development Management. The guidance is intended to be used in the design
development layouts to ensure they provide safe and free movement for all road users.
The Design Guide was updated in December 2024.

Blaby District Council Planning Obligations and Development Contributions
Supplementary Planning Document (2024)

This new Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been adopted following a

meeting of Full Council on 24" September and replaces the 2010 SPD. The new SPD
supports the implementation of policies in the Local Plan (Core Strategy and Delivery

Page 38



DPD) in relation to planning obligations and infrastructure requirements arising from
development.

Blaby District Council Housing Mix and Affordable Housing Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013)

This Supplementary Planning Document contains additional detail and guidance on
how Blaby District Council will interpret and apply specific policies contained in the
Local Plan and will be a material consideration in the determination of planning
applications. The objectives of the SPD are:

1) To provide guidance regarding the interpretation of policies CS7 and CS8 of
the Blaby District Local Plan (Core Strategy);

2) To address local imbalances in both the market and affordable housing stock;
and

3) To optimise the provision of affordable housing to meet identified needs.

Blaby Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment (January 2020)

Provides up-to-date landscape and settlement evidence to inform the emerging Blaby
Local Plan and help guide development management decisions. The assessment
states that “understanding the character of a place is a key part of ensuring the
protection and enhancement of built and natural environments, managing sustainable
economic growth and improving the health and wellbeing of local communities’.

Blaby District Council Open Space Audit (2019)

This assessment reviews the standards set out in Blaby District Council’s Policy CS15
for the open space, sport and recreation facilities requirements of local communities,
covering quantity, quality and access. It carries out an audit of the district's open
space, sport and recreation facilities, including an assessment of the current quality of
provision, identifying current surpluses or deficiencies.

Blaby Playing Pitch Strategy (2020)

Provides a strategic framework for the maintenance and improvement of all formal
outdoor playing pitches and accompanying ancillary facilities in the District up to 2037.
The strategy has been developed in accordance with Sport England guidance and
under the direction of a steering group led by the Council, Sport England and including
National Governing Bodies of Sports. It provides planning guidance to assess
development proposals and inform the protection and provision of outdoor sports
facilities.

Blaby Residential Land Availability Report (March 2024)
Shows the progress that has been made towards meeting the District’'s housing
requirements that are set in the adopted Local Plan (Core Strategy) Development Plan

Document (2013). The residential land availability position is monitored on an annual
basis and this statement shows the latest published position as of 315t March 2023.

Page 39



Joint Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Final Report (October 2021)

The purpose of this document is to provide information on the changes to planning,
policy and guidance since the previous Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, provide a
detailed assessment of any flood hazard within the Flood Zones, provide information
on existing defences and flood risk management measures, allow a sequential
approach to site allocation.

Blaby Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA)
2019

Provides evidence on the potential supply of both housing and economic development
land in the District of Blaby.

Leicester and Leicestershire Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA)
2022

Provides evidence regarding the overall need for housing, and type and mix of housing
needed; together with an assessment of the quantity and type of employment land
needed to inform local and strategic plans in Leicester and Leicestershire.

Material Considerations:

Planning applications must be determined in accordance with the provisions of the
Development Plan unless there are material considerations which indicate otherwise,
and whether those material considerations are of such weight that the adopted policies
of the Development Plan should not prevail in relation to any proposal. The following
are material planning considerations in the determination of this planning application:

- The principle of the development and 5-year housing land supply position
- Impact on the countryside and landscape/visual impact
- Affordable housing and housing mix

- Design and layout

- Transport and highway implications and Active Travel

- Flood risk and drainage

- Residential Amenities

- Developer contributions and infrastructure/ facilities

- Open Space, sport and recreation

- Loss of Agricultural Land

- Archaeology and historic environment

- Environmental Implications

- Ecology and Biodiversity

- Arboricultural implications

- Impact on high pressure gas pipeline

- Minerals safeguarding

The principle of the development and 5-year housing land supply position

Policies CS1 and CS5 of Blaby District Council Core Strategy seek to ensure housing
needs are met in the most sustainable way through a principle of ‘urban concentration’.

Page 40



New development should be primarily focused within and adjoining the Principal Urban
Area of Leicester (PUA) of Leicester. However, provision is also made for the
development needs of settlements outside the PUA.

Between 2006 and 2029, the District of Blaby is required to provide a minimum of
8,740 houses. Of the 8,740 houses, Policy CS1 states that at least 5,750 houses
should be within or adjoining the Leicester PUA, with at least 2,990 houses to be
provided in areas outside the PUA (the ‘non-PUA’).

As of 315t March 2024, a total of 2,826 homes had been completed in the PUA. To
meet the identified PUA requirement there is a need for around 585 homes per annum
to be delivered in the PUA until the end of the plan period (total 2,924). Forecast
completions in the PUA to 2029 are mainly less than half this number and it is unlikely
that housing delivery will accelerate in the PUA sufficiently to address the shortfall by
the end of the Plan period.

Outside the PUA, Policy CS1 states that development should be focused within and
adjoining Blaby and the Larger Central Villages (i.e. Enderby, Narborough, Whetstone
and Countesthorpe), with lower levels of growth allowed in the Rural Centre (Stoney
Stanton), Medium Central Villages and Smaller Villages.

Housing delivery in the non-PUA has exceeded the minimum housing requirement set
out in the Plan. The Council’s recently published Residential Land Availability (RLA)
report indicates that as of the 31t March 2024 3,942 homes had been delivered in the
non-PUA. The plan indicates a minimum requirement in the non-PUA of 2,990
dwellings. The RLA indicates that around 133 further homes may be completed in the
non-PUA before 2029. Opportunities to deliver housing development of a type and
scale needed to facilitate an increase in delivery in the near term are greater in the
non-PUA than the PUA mainly due to the constrained nature and large scale of the
sites being promoted for development in the PUA.

Policies CS1 and CS5 identify Croft as a ‘Medium Central Village’ (along with the
settlements of Littlethorpe, Huncote, Cosby and Sapcote). The Medium Central
Villages have a combined housing requirement of 815 dwellings across the local plan
period (2006 to 2029). It should be noted that this figure is a minimum requirement
and is not a cap.

Against this requirement, 1,134 houses had been completed in the Medium Central
Villages as of 31 March 2024, resulting in the minimum requirement having been
exceeded by 319 dwellings. When taking into account completions and commitments,
the figure is slightly higher, at 1,166 houses (an excess of 351 over the minimum
requirement) due to some small sites having planning permission but not having been
completed. Croft itself does not have an individual housing figure requirement. The
village has delivered 54 housing completions during the Local Plan period and
therefore arguably has not delivered its fair share of housing among the Medium
Central Villages. Furthermore, the 54 housing completions is below the minimum
requirement of 77 dwellings in Policy FV7 of the Fosse Villages Neighbourhood Plan
which has been adopted since the Core Strategy.

It is recognised that releasing this site would result in the minimum requirement for the

Page 41



Medium Central Villages in Policy CS5 being further exceeded, although it would
provide additional housing for Croft which has not met the minimum requirement set
out in the Fosse Villages Neighbourhood Plan (albeit 95 dwellings would be exceed
the requirement). However, given the shortfall in the PUA, the proposed development
is considered to provide the potential to deliver additional homes in the next 5-year
period. Although only in outline form, the application is submitted by a housebuilder
and therefore subject to the timely submission of an application for reserved matters
application, the site could begin to deliver within 5 years.

The application site is located outside of the Settlement Boundary of Croft on land
designated as Countryside on the Blaby District Local Plan Policies Map (2019). Itis
not an allocated site for housing development and in this context is contrary to the
adopted Development Plan. However, there is currently an overall under delivery of
houses within the District as a whole, with the Council only being able to demonstrate
a 3.53-year housing land supply as of 1t April 2024. This is notably less than the five-
year supply requirement outlined in paragraph 72 the NPPF. Following the publication
of the revised NPPF in December 2024 and the Council’s revised housing numbers,
the land supply position is likely to have significantly reduced below 3.53 years. The
policies of the Development Plan which relate to the supply of housing are therefore
considered out-of-date and the ‘tilted balance’ towards approval as set out in
paragraph 11d of the NPPF should be applied.

The shortfall in the supply of deliverable housing sites should therefore be weighed in
the planning balance and means that, in accordance with the presumption in favour of
sustainable development (at paragraph 11d), any adverse impacts caused by the
proposal must significantly and demonstrably outweigh its benefits if planning
permission is to be refused.

With regard to Policy CS1 and CS5 it is considered that the overarching need to deliver
sufficient homes as set out in the NPPF should take precedence over the Council’s
policy to concentrate growth in the PUA, particularly given the Council’s shortfall in its
housing land supply position. In light of this shortfall and given the lack of deliverable
sites within the PUA, it is considered necessary to provide additional housing in the
near-term outside the PUA where this provision accords with the NPPF and relevant
policies in the Plan. It is therefore considered that the provision of new homes does
not significantly conflict with Policies CS1 and CS5, nevertheless it is considered that
the weight assigned to Policies CS1 and CS5 with regard to the distribution of housing
development throughout the District should be reduced reflecting the Council’s lack of
sufficient housing supply with respect to the ‘tilted balance’.

The supporting text to Policy CS5 comments that Croft contains some key services
and facilities. It highlights an infrequent bus service to Leicester City Centre and large
employment areas around Junction 21 of the M1. It is noted from current timetables
that the service (X84 between Leicester and Rugby), run by Arriva, is generally hourly
between approximately 6:30am and 7:30pm Mondays to Fridays between Leicester
and Croft, with a similar frequency on Saturdays but no service on Sundays. The
supporting text also states that there are limited employment opportunities in the
village mainly associated with the quarry, and that Croft has significant physical
constraints to development, including floodplain and a main gas pipeline. The text
does reference significant local concerns regarding the falling school pupil numbers.

Page 42



It is noted that Croft Church of England Primary School has a capacity of 175 pupils,
but only 117 pupils currently enrolled. In recent years, Croft has not been subject to
the level of additional housing development which the other Medium Central Villages
have, and such development could help to keep the local school financially
sustainable, in the context of a national pattern of declining birth rates. The local shops
in Croft comprise of a small supermarket/ convenience store located approximately
600 metres from the application site entrance (formerly Co-op, now a Morrisons Daily),
and a neighbourhood parade including a further convenience store, takeaways and
hairdressers located approximately 700 metres away.

Whilst it is recognised that the ‘overprovision’ of housing in the Medium Central
Villages poses a risk of the spatial strategy of the district becoming out of kilter as it
would concentrate residential development within the non-PUA, a less sustainable
location. However, in the context of a lack of 5-year land supply and the limited
availability of sites within the PUA in the short-term, it is acknowledged that such sites
in the non-PUA will need to come forward for development. Croft has not been subject
to the scale of new housing development in recent years that other settlements in the
non-PUA have (including the other Medium Central Villages, in particular Sapcote). It
is also recognised that whilst Croft may be limited in its services and facilities and
public transport connections, some level of new housing development within Croft may
be beneficial, in particular to support the primary school and those services and
facilities which do exist.

Overall, whilst there is conflict with some policies of the Development Plan and the
overall spatial strategy, those policies which relate to the supply of housing are
considered out of date and must be given reduced weight in the context of the housing
supply position. Any adverse impacts of the proposed development must significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits if planning permission is to be refused. The
impacts of the proposed development are considered further in the subsequent
sections of this report.

Impact on the countryside and landscape/visual impact

The application site is situated outside the Settlement Boundary of Croft, on land
designated as Countryside as defined by the Policies Map of the Blaby District Council
(Delivery) Development Plan Document (2019) where policies CS18 and DM2 apply.

Policy CS18 states that in the countryside, planning permission will not be granted for
built development, or other development which would have a significantly adverse
effect on the appearance or character of the landscape. It requires the need to retain
countryside to be balanced against the need to provide new development (including
housing) in the most sustainable locations.

Policy DM2 provides more specific policy guidance for development that is appropriate
in the Countryside, consistent with Policy CS18. Policy DM2 permits only certain
categories of residential development in the Countryside, including those dwellings
that meet the essential needs for a rural worker in agriculture, forestry, employment,
and leisure, or other similar uses appropriate to a rural area and replacement or the
change of use, adoption and extension of existing dwellings.

Page 43



The site does not fall under any of the categories identified in Policy DM2 and is
contrary to both policies CS18 and DM2. The purpose of these policies is to protect
the open and generally undeveloped nature of the countryside. Neither does it fit with
any of the specified development types appropriate in countryside locations in the
NPPF. However, as noted previously in the context of the ‘tilted balance’, the policies
set out in the Local Plan and the NPPF which relate to housing supply are considered
out of date and should be applied flexibly given the identified housing land supply
position and given that new housing sites to meet the lack of supply will, in most
instances, need to be outside of existing settlement boundaries within the Countryside.

Policy DM2, sets out criteria to be met for development proposals consistent with
Policy CS18. This includes that the development shall be in keeping with the
appearance and character of the existing landscape, development form and buildings,
having regard to the Blaby Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment,
Leicestershire and Rutland Historic Landscape Characterisation Study, National
Character Areas (NCAs) and any subsequent pieces of evidence.

A Landscape and Visual Appraisal (by FPCR, May 2024) has been submitted with the
application. This identifies that the site lies within the National Character Area of
Leicestershire Vales (NCA 94). It is described as “a large, relatively open, uniform
landscape composed of low-lying clay vales interrupted by a range of varied river
valleys. Its sense of place comes less from its overall landform and more from its
visually dominant settlements and views towards surrounding higher ground”.

At a local level, the Blaby Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment (January
2020) identifies the site as being on the transition between the ‘Croft Hill and Quarries’
Landscape Character Area (LCA) and the ‘Stoney Stanton Rolling Farmland’ LCA.

The summary for ‘Croft Hill and Quarries’ LCA states:

“This character area is located within the central part of the district adjacent to the
settlements of Huncote and Croft... The LCA contains Croft Hill, a notable landmark
within Blaby District... The active Croft Quarry is a distinct feature of the LCA.
Elsewhere, land use is primarily agricultural although there are areas of recreational
use associated with the edges of settlements.”

The summary for ‘Stoney Stanton Rolling Farmland’ LCA states:

“This LCA is located towards the southwestern tip of the district... Landform is gently
rolling and land use is predominantly arable agriculture, with some grazing and pony
paddocks close to the urban fringe... The landscape is relatively settled with several
large villages. The low-cut hedgerows and undulating landform results in relatively
open views which have a mixture of rural and urban influences.”

The assessment states that within both LCAs future development should respect and
enhance the strong character of the rural villages, complementing existing context with
regards to scale, form, materials and boundary features.

The submitted Landscape and Visual Appraisal for the site comments that potential
close-range visual receptors of development within the site are likely to be limited to

Page 44



residents of properties along the southern fringe of Croft (Poplars Road, Windsor
Gardens, Broughton Road, Sparkenhoe and Poplars Farm), along with users of Public
Right of Way V44/3, road users on Broughton Road and users of the car boot sale.

It identifies that there will also be potential for more distant views of development within
the site from some more distant residential properties but that intervening mature
vegetation will provide some filtering effects, and any views would be seen within the
context of the existing residential edge of Croft which borders the site to the north.

The report concludes that the site relates well to Croft and is not particularly sensitive
in landscape and visual terms with a limited number of potential receptors identified,
and with the new housing being seen as part of the overall settlement for the majority
of receptors. It concludes that the new development will not result in unacceptable
long-term harm to local landscape character and visual amenity.

Your Officers acknowledge that whilst there would be some impact to landscape
character, this would predominantly be localised. Based on the viewpoints considered
in the Landscape and Visual Appraisal, whilst there may be some longer-range views
of the site these would be filtered and in the context of views of the existing settlement
of Croft. As such, the impacts on landscape character are not considered to be
significant.

Affordable housing and housing mix

Policies CS7, CS8 and DM11 seek to ensure that new housing developments provide
the appropriate quantity and mix of housing for the District’s current and future needs,
including provision of affordable housing and accessible and adaptable homes.

It is considered that policy Policies CS7, CS8 and DM11 are broadly consistent with
the NPPF paragraph 63 and can therefore be given full weight.

The Blaby Housing Mix and Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document
provides guidance regarding the interpretation of policies CS7 and CS8, aims to
address local imbalances in both the market and affordable housing stock, and aims
to optimise the provision of affordable housing to meet identified needs.

Policy CS7 seeks to secure a minimum of 25% of the total number of dwellings as
affordable housing on all developments of 15 or more dwellings. It is worth highlighting
that the most up to date information on affordable housing need is set out in the 2022
HENA. This shows a marked increase in need for affordable housing, and this is a
material consideration which should be considered in the planning balance. The June
2022 HENA shows that a total of 539 affordable houses per year (including 341 per
year as social and affordable rented and 189 as affordable home ownership) are
required to meet the District Council’s affordable housing need. It is unlikely that this
level of delivery will be viable or deliverable, but it highlights the growing need for
affordable housing in the district. The submitted Planning Statement indicates that the
proposed development includes provision of a policy compliant level of affordable
housing (24 dwellings). The Housing Mix and Affordable Housing SPD states that in
the case that a fraction of an affordable unit is required the developer will round up the
number of affordable units to be provided on site, or alternatively the fraction of a unit

Page 45



may be provided as a financial contribution. In this instance, the applicant has
suggested rounding to 24 dwellings or alternatively 23 dwellings could be provided on
site and the 0.75 of an affordable dwelling secured by a financial contribution through
the Section 106 agreement.

The Planning Statement refers to providing 25% of all affordable units as ‘First Homes’
(which were first introduced as a type of affordable housing product in May 2021
through a Written Ministerial Statement and updates to the Planning Practice
Guidance. However, in the revised NPPF published in December 2024, the
requirement for First Homes was removed, and officers will not be seeking a
requirement for First Homes as part of the affordable housing mix.

Policy CS8 states that residential developments of 10 or more dwellings should
provide an appropriate mix of housing type (house, flat, bungalow), tenure (owner-
occupied, rent, intermediate) and size (bedroom numbers) to meet the needs of
existing and future households in the District, taking into account the latest Strategic
Housing Market Assessment and other evidence of local need. As the application is
in outline form, the application does not set out the proposed mix at this stage.

The Council’s Housing Strategy team has provided a ‘Housing Mix Requirements
Assessment’ (February 2024) which provides detailed analysis and conclusions
relating to both the affordable and market housing. The assessment provides a
recommended affordable and market mix for the development. The preferred mix is
based on achieving a balance of larger homes and sufficient supply of smaller homes.

The provision of 25% of the dwellings as affordable housing will be secured through
the Section 106 agreement. A condition will also be included on any grant of planning
permission requiring an appropriate mix of affordable and market housing. The exact
size of dwellings and tenure breakdown for the affordable housing will be agreed as
part of a subsequent reserved matters application, with the preferred mix forming a
baseline for discussions with the Council’s Housing Strategy team.

Overall, the proposed development is considered to accord with Policies CS7, CS8
and DM11.

Design and layout

Policies CS2 and DM2 seek to ensure that a high-quality environment is achieved in
all new development proposals, respecting distinctive local character, and ensuring
that design contributes towards improving the character and quality of an area and the
way it functions. They further seek to create places of high architectural and urban
design quality to provide a better quality of life for the district’'s local community. It is
considered that Policies CS2 and DM2 are consistent with the NPPF paragraph 131
and can therefore be given full weight.

The application site is located on the southern edge of Croft, with established

residential development to the north and recent residential development at Poplars
Road to the northeast.

Page 46



The illustrative masterplan is not for approval at this stage but provides details of how
the site could potentially be developed. It shows the main areas of open space being
located at the centre of the site, with a drainage attenuation basin being located
towards the boundary with Broughton Road. The main access road for the residential
development would be via the existing, improved access to Croft Lodge Farm, with a
secondary road through the site being in the position of the current car boot site
access. A new second access onto Broughton Road would be created, to
accommodate the access to the car boot site to avoid this passing through the
development. On the Broughton Road frontage, and the southern edge of the site,
the dwellings are shown as facing outwards, behind edge lanes or private drives.
Existing hedgerows on the site or along highway boundaries would be retained. On
the western edge of the site (between Croft Lodge Farm and Paradise Spinney), the
dwellings are shown as facing inwards, but enhanced boundary planting is proposed
here, to form the boundaries of the residential curtilages.

The overall site area is 4.25 hectares (excluding the red line areas for the car boot
access and sections of Broughton Road). 0.94 hectares is proposed to be Public
Open Space and 0.25 hectares for the attenuation basin, leaving 3.06 hectares (72%)
for residential development including roads and parking areas. The open space
provision is discussed later in the report. The density of the development therefore
equates to approximately 30 dwellings per hectare.

Chapter 11 of the NPPF refers to making effective use of land and achieving
appropriate densities, whilst also taking into account the desirability of maintaining an
area’s prevailing character and setting. The density of 30 dwellings per hectare is
considered by Officers to be appropriate for this edge of settlement location. This is
at the lower end of the range of densities which the National Model Design Code
considers is appropriate for a suburban location, or in the middle of the range for ‘outer
suburbs’.

Transport and highway implications and Active Travel

Policy CS10 seeks to deliver the infrastructure, services and facilities required to meet
the needs of the population of the District of Blaby including those arising from growth
and to make services accessible to all, including locating new development so that
people can access services and facilities without reliance on private motor vehicles
and to ensure that appropriate measures are taken to mitigate the transport impacts
of new development.

Policy DM8 seeks to provide a consistent approach to local car parking standards and
highway design. It goes on to state that the Leicestershire Highways Design Guide
sets out, amongst other things, standards and policies for parking and highway design
that will need to be considered for all new development.

Site Access
Although the application is in outline form, access to the site is a matter for
consideration at this stage. The submitted Transport Assessment indicates that the

development would be accessed via an upgraded simple priority-controlled T-junction
on Broughton Road. In addition, a second access further south along Broughton Road

Page 47



would serve the existing car boot sale every Sunday. It is also proposed to relocate
the gateway feature on Broughton Road and the 30mph speed limit, with dragon teeth
to the south to include both accessed. Two chicanes are also proposed along
Broughton Road between the two sites accesses to slow vehicles down as they travel
past the site frontage.

The Local Highway Authority (LHA) (Leicestershire County Council) has no in principle
objections to these proposals but has noted that it would require street lighting along
the entire length of the proposed 30mph section, with a traffic regulation order being
required, which is requested as a contribution of £15,000.

Regarding the traffic calming (chicane) features along Broughton Road, the LHA has
welcomed the provision of swept path analysis which demonstrates that the chicane
locations are suitable. Vehicular visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 59 metres for the
development are shown, which can also cater for farm traffic. An independent stage
1 road safety audit has been undertaken the LHA has advised that it is content with
the designer's response to the audit. The LHA is content that the proposed
development would not exacerbate any known highway safety concerns.

Trip generation and distribution

The Transport Assessment indicates that the development will generate up to 61 two-
way vehicle trips in a peak hour, most of which would route to and from the south of
the site, via Broughton Road towards the Coventry Road/ Broughton Road junction
and thereafter dispersing onto the surrounding highway network. It suggests that the
Coventry Road/ Broughton Road junction could accommodate the additional traffic
generated by the development and that there is no accident history along Broughton
Road and Coventry Road in the vicinity of the site, although some comments from
members of the public have raised concerns about vehicles speeding and a need for
traffic signals at the B4114 junction. The LHA has agreed the distribution and
assignment exercise.

Junction assessments

Based on the traffic distribution, assessments of the following junctions have been
undertaken (some at the request of the LHA):

Broughton Road/ Site Access priority T junction;

Coventry Road (B4114)/ Broughton Road priority T junction;

Coventry Road (B4114)/ Croft Road signalised T junction;

King Edward Avenue (B4114)/ Desford Road roundabout; and

Leicester Road/ Blaby Road/ St Johns/ Enderby Road junction (Foxhunter
roundabout).

The LHA is content that the assessed junctions would operate within capacity or the
performance of the junctions would not materially worsen. For the Foxhunter
roundabout junction, the applicant’s transport consultant has indicated that the
proposed development would only resultin a 0.7% impact to flows at the junction within
peak hours and so it would be unreasonable for the LHA to seek amendments or any
mitigation at this junction.

Page 48



Walking, cycling and wheeling/ Active Travel

The Transport Assessment indicates that there are opportunities for pedestrian and
cycle travel to and from the site, with many facilities in Croft within walking and cycling
distance of the site. The road network within the village is generally residential in
nature and lightly trafficked. Broughton Road is a so called ‘quieter route’ which can
be followed through Huncote and Narborough to off-road cycle provisions in and
around Leicester, although dedicated cycling infrastructure is limited in the vicinity of
the site.

It is proposed to provide a new footway and uncontrolled crossing (with dropped kerbs
and tactile paving) along Broughton Road to link the development site with the existing
footway network. The LHA is content with this provision. Although no additional
provisions are proposed for cycling and wheeling, given the proximity to Croft village
and considering that Broughton Road is a designated quieter route, the LHA does not
request specific provisions, but notes that this should not prejudice any considerations
the District Planning Authority may wish to make in relation to its own Local Cycling
and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP).

Blaby District Council’s Active Travel Officer has advised that the applicant has made
several reasonable proposals to mitigate single occupancy car journeys, and the
inclusion of a new footway and crossing are welcomed. Regarding the proposal for a
new bus stop, it is advised that this should be covered and provide adequate seating.
Regarding the targets for walking and cycling, it is commented that the suggested 10%
reduction in single occupancy car journeys is unambitious and should reflect the
national ambition that half of all short journeys should be undertaken by active modes
by 2030. It is also advised that further provision for cycle parking should be included
(although this can be dealt with through a future reserved matters application).

Public transport

With regards to bus travel, the Transport Assessment notes that there is a regular
hourly service in Croft which is 800 metres walking distance of the site. As only the
southbound service runs past the site, it is proposed to locate an additional bus stop
for the southbound route on Broughton Road just north of the site to bring this walking
distance closer to the site. In addition, Croft is also served by a demand-responsive
bus service.

The LHA has provided further comments on the bus service, which is the X84 from
Leicester to Rugby via Fosse Park, Broughton Astley, Lutterworth and Magna Park.
The nearest stop for the Rugby bound service is on Broughton Road, approximately
500 metres from the site and the bus stop for the Leicester bound service is on Arbor
Road, approximately 770 metres from the site. The LHA welcomes the proposal to
relocate the bus stop on Broughton Road to reduce the distance to the development
site, which the LHA welcomes (although it is noted that this has not been required by
condition).

The nearest railway station is Narborough, some 4.7 kilometres from the site. It is
noted that the X84 bus service calls at bus stops within 260 metres of the station.

Page 49



Travel Plan

A Travel Plan has been provided with the application and forms part of the mitigation
package. Its purpose is to seek to manage travel during the occupation of the
development and includes measures such as the appointment of a Travel Plan
coordinator, monitoring fees, travel packs for residents and bus passes.

The LHA considers that further work is required on the Travel Plan. In particular, the
LHA considers that there should be a more detailed understanding and commitment
to delivering sustainable travel initiatives, and requests that an amended travel plan is
resubmitted, which is to be secured by condition. Contributions are requested by the
LHA for the Travel Plan monitoring fee, travel packs, and six-month bus passes.

Flood risk and drainage

Paragraph 173 of the NPPF states that when determining planning applications, local
planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Policy
CS22 of the Core Strategy states that the Council will ensure all development
minimises vulnerability and provides resilience to flooding, taking into account climate
change. This includes directing development to locations at the lowest risk of flooding
giving priority to land in flood zone 1, using Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) to
ensure that flood risk is not increased on-site or elsewhere, managing surface water
run-off, and ensuring that any risk of flooding is appropriately mitigated, and the natural
environment is protected.

Fluvial and surface water flood risk

The application site is located entirely within Flood Zone 1, being at a low risk of
flooding from rivers (with a less than 1 in 1000 chance of flooding occurring each year).
The majority of the site is at very low risk of flooding from surface water (less than 1 in
1000 chance) although an area of low to high risk of surface water ponding is shown
to be present in the eastern corner of the site associated with an existing natural
topographical low point. The Flood Risk Assessment considers that as the ponding is
localised and generated within the site it is anticipated that this can be mitigated by
the surface water management to be implemented as part of the proposed
development.

The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) (Leicestershire County Council), whilst initially
raising concerns (which have since been addressed), has not objected to the planning
application. However, the NPPF is clear that inappropriate development in areas at
risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at higher
risk. Paragraph 181 of the NPPF sets out that when determining planning
applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased
elsewhere. Development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where
specific criteria are met.

Seqguential test

The NPPF sets out the sequential, risk-based approach to individual applications in
areas known to be at risk now or in the future from any source of flooding. Paragraph

Page 50



174 states that the aim is to steer new development to areas with the lowest risk of
flooding from any source, and that development should not be allocated or permitted
if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the development in areas with a
lower risk of flooding. Paragraph 175 states that the sequential test should be used in
areas known to be at risk now or in the future from any form of flooding, except in
situations where a site-specific flood risk assessment demonstrates that no built
development within the site boundary, including access or escape routes, land raising
or other potentially vulnerable elements, would be located on an area that would be at
risk of flooding from any source, now or in the future.

As the submitted parameters plan shows that a limited amount of built development is
proposed within areas at high risk of surface water flooding, a Sequential Test has
been undertaken for the site. The search parameters for the test were first discussed
with Officers, which has guided the search for possible alternative sites. It was agreed
that a suitable search area would be the entire district and that sites able to
accommodate between 75 and 125 dwellings should be considered (i.e. +/- 20
dwellings). The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that reasonably available
sites could include a series of smaller sites and/or part of a larger site if these would
be capable of accommodating the proposed development. It was also agreed that
sites could be discounted where they are not reasonably available now.

Of the 105 potential alternative sites identified, 104 sites were discounted for a variety
of reasons (not providing a capacity for 75-125 dwellings either alone or as a series of
smaller connected sites, development having already commenced on the site, not
deliverable in the next 7 years, other site constraints or deliverability considerations,
or the site being owned or actively promoted by another householder or developer
(and therefore not available). One potential alternative site remained (Land at
Leicester Road, Sapcote for 80 dwellings) which was recently granted outline planning
permission in 24/0511/OUT. Whilst this site also has some surface water flooding
identified within its application boundary, it cannot be said to be worse that the
application site.

As such, the application site fails the sequential test. The NPPF states that
“development should not be allocated or permitted if there are reasonably available
sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a lower risk of flooding”
(para. 174). However, the failure of the sequential test is a matter which needs to be
weighed in the planning balance in the context of other material considerations.

There are recent examples of appeal decisions and court cases whereby it has been
considered that even where the sequential test has failed, planning permission may
be granted if there are strong reasons for still granting permission. In the recent Yatton
appeal case (APP/D0121/W/24/3343144) a Planning Inspector considered that even
though the proposal did not pass the Sequential Test, this was not necessarily fatal to
the application and that wider sustainability benefits outweighed the flood risk. The
Inspector in that case considered that a rigid application of the test, in the face of
urgent housing need and the site’s relatively low flood hazard, would be
disproportionate. The Inspector also gave weight to the design appropriate which
included elevated finished floor levels, attenuation measures, and a strategy for safe
access and egress during flood events. The Inspector also had regard to the Mead
Judgement ([2024] EWHC 279) where the Judge stated “the policy objective is to

Page 51



direct development away from areas at highest risk [of flooding], not to preclude
development altogether”.

Therefore, whilst the proposed development fails the flood risk sequential test and
therefore does not accord with Policy CS22 (which seeks to direct developments to
locations at lowest risk of flooding), this is a matter which must be weighed in the
planning balance alongside other material considerations.

Surface water drainage

The proposed development proposes to discharge surface water to the local
watercourse at the equivalent greenfield QBar rate. This will be achieved through
surface water attenuation and storage on site as part of the development proposals.
Attenuated surface water storage will be provided in the form of a Sustainable Urban
Drainage System (SuDS) detention basin with capacity for the 1 in 100-year storm
with an allowance for climate change. The proposed storage volume required has
been calculated to be 1,310m? but the final required attenuated storage volume will be
determined during the detailed design stage once the development layout and
drainage areas are fixed.

The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) (Leicestershire County Council) initially
commented that they would wish to see commitment to additional SuDS (in addition
to the detention basin) to ensure sufficient treatment train is provided. The LLFA also
commented that there was no evidence to demonstrate that the applicant had
consulted with the third-party landowner regarding the location of the surface water
outfall, and it was unclear if the watercourse through the site would be retained in its
current form or culverted (the LLFA does not allow culverting of watercourses unless
agreed to be necessary).

Further details in relation to the design of the attenuation basin were provided and a
revised drainage strategy plan showed the proposed outfall to be an existing surface
water drainage located within the site boundary and the existing watercourse is to be
retained as an open channel with a 4.5 metre easement. Subsequent to this, the LLFA
confirmed that the proposals were acceptable, subject to conditions being imposed
requiring full surface water drainage details, details of surface water management
during construction, details of long-term maintenance, and a requirement for infiltration
testing.

Foul drainage

The Drainage Strategy indicates that as the site is currently undeveloped a new foul
drainage connection must be sought. Due to the site levels relative to the proposed
point of connection a gravity solution is not viable and a pumping station is required.
A pre-development enquiry was submitted to Severn Trent Water and their response
has been included in the Drainage Strategy. Their response advises that additional
modelling will be required to assess the impact of the additional flows. Severn Trent
Water were consulted on the planning application but have not provided a response.

Page 52



Overall, it has been demonstrated that the flood risks to the development can be
managed, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and will not result in an increase in
flood risk off-site.

Residential Amenities

Policy DM2 seeks to ensure that development consistent with Policy CS18 provides a
satisfactory relationship with nearby uses that would not be significantly detrimental to
the amenities enjoyed by existing and nearby residents, including but not limited to,
considerations of, privacy, light, noise, disturbance and an overbearing effect and
considerations including vibration, emissions, hours of working and vehicular activity.

Given the application seeks outline planning permission with all other matters except
access reserved, it is not possible to fully determine the degree of impact upon the
amenities of existing residents or future occupiers of the development without final
details of layout, scale and appearance which will be fully assessed at the detailed
Reserved Matters stage.

However, the proposed development is located adjacent to the settlement boundary
of Croft and so would be located in reasonably close proximity to some existing
residential properties, in particular those on Sparkenhoe, Broughton Road, and Croft
Lodge Farm itself. The vehicular access to the site would be located close to
properties on Poplars Road, on the opposite side of Broughton Road.

Whilst those properties on Sparkenhoe in particular, which currently form the edge of
the built up area, will be affected, there is currently a mature hedgerow along this
boundary (at the northern edge of the site) and as such, with the hedgerow being
retained, it is not considered that the impacts on privacy or overlooking to these
properties would be significant.

A concern has been raised about the impacts on nearby residents on Sparkenhoe
during the construction period. However, any severe impacts during the construction
period can be mitigated, to an extent, through the submission and approval of a
Construction Management Plan.

In terms of the residential amenity of future occupiers of the site, the illustrative
masterplan and layout plan show that the suitable orientation and separation distances
of dwellings is achievable within the development, allowing for back-to-back distances
of dwellings of approximately 20 metres or more. This would help to ensure the
protection of the amenities of future occupiers of the site in terms of privacy and
overlooking.

A Noise Impact Assessment has been undertaken and submitted with the application.
Existing potential noise impacts include those associated with Croft Lodge Farm
(including farming activities and the kennel business located at the farm), Croft Lodge
Car Boot and traffic entering or leaving the site, and road traffic noise. The Noise
Assessment confirms that the existing kennel facilities at Croft Lodge Farm will cease
to operate when the development is built out and therefore noise from this source has
not been considered within the assessment. The report concludes that based on the

Page 53



results of the assessment, the site is suitable for residential development. A condition
can be included requiring the closure of the kennels.

The application is therefore considered to comply with Policy DM2 of the Local Plan.
Developer contributions and infrastructure/ facilities

Policy CS11 states that new developments must be supported by the required
physical, social and environmental infrastructure at the appropriate time. It states that
the Council will work in partnership with delivery agencies to ensure that development
provides the necessary infrastructure, services and facilities to meet the needs of the
community and mitigate any adverse impacts of development. Policy CS12 states
that where requirements for infrastructure, services and facilities arising from growth
are identified through robust research and evidence, it is expected that developers will
contribute towards their provision (and in some cases maintenance).

A request for funding towards secondary education provision, library services, and
civic amenity and waste facilities was received from Leicestershire County Council.
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Integrated Care Board (LLR ICB) has also
requested a financial contribution for use at an existing GP surgery and/or to develop
alternative primary/community healthcare infrastructure that will be directly impacted
due to the increase in population linked to this housing development. Leicestershire
Police requests a contribution to mitigate the additional impacts of this development
because the Force’s existing infrastructure will not have the capacity to meet with new
demand.

Education provision

A partial request for contributions of £9,456.40 is sought to create additional capacity
within secondary education provision in the vicinity of the development to address a
marginal deficit in the number of secondary pupil places if the development were to
proceed. However, in relation to primary education there are surplus places within a
2-mile radius if the development goes ahead. In relation to post-16 education, there
is sufficient capacity within schools within a 3-mile radius. In relation to special
education and disabilities (SEND) education, as the proposed development is for less
than 100 dwellings, there is no request for contributions towards the SEND education
sector.

The secondary contribution sought is to accommodate the capacity issues created by
the proposed development by improving, remodelling or enhancing existing facilities.

Libraries
The nearest library to the development is Broughton Astley library and it is considered
that the development will create additional pressures on the availability of facilities at

that library and others nearby. A contribution of £2,868.78 is sought to provide
improvements to the library and its facilities.

Page 54



Waste contribution

A contribution of £2,267.65 is sought to be used for site reconfiguration, including the
development of waste infrastructure to increase the capacity of the Whetstone
Household Waste and Recycling Centre (HWRC), or any other HWRC directly
impacted by the development.

Health Care

The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Integrated Care Board (ICB) requests a
contribution of £73,568.00 for GP surgeries to help mitigate/ support the needs arising
from an increase in population. The ICB requests that the funding is allocated for use
either at any named GP Surgery or to develop alternative primary/ community
healthcare infrastructure that will be directly impacted due to the increase in population
linked to this housing development. Whilst Croft itself has no GP surgery, the ICB has
identified existing GP surgeries in Broughton Astley, Stoney Stanton and Sapcote
where the contribution could be used.

Police

Leicestershire Police has requested a contribution of £18,173.10 to mitigate the
additional impacts of this development because the Force’s existing infrastructure will
not have the capacity to meet the new demand generated by the development. The
Force indicates that the funding will be used for equipment, police vehicle charging
points, ANPR and identification technology, crime reduction equipment, infrastructure
and estate support and new technological developments.

However, having recently reviewed the requests from Leicestershire Police for a
number of developments, your Officers are of the view that only the parts of the request
which relate to police vehicles and ANPR and identification technology are capable of
complying with Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (the
CIL Regulations) (i.e. necessary to make the development acceptable in planning
terms; directly related to the development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale
and kind to the development).

Whilst discussions with Leicestershire Police in relation to their contribution requests
are continuing, Officers currently only consider that the £2,765.26 sought for police
vehicles and £2,299.00 for identification technology can be secured through the
Section 106 agreement.

Utilities

A Utilities Statement has been submitted with the application which reviews the
records of existing utility supplies and highlights and constraints. It provides details of
the utility companies that have been contacted in relation to the development. It

anticipates that minor upgrades to the existing utility network infrastructure may be
required to accommodate the anticipated electric and water demands

Policy DM4 of the Delivery DPD states that all new build major residential and
commercial development should be served by a fast, affordable and reliable

Page 55



broadband connection in line with the latest Government target. It indicates that
developers will be expected to liaise with broadband infrastructure providers to ensure
that a suitable connection is made. Since the publication of the Delivery DPD,
however, legislation has overtaken policy requirements in this area as The Building
etc. (Amendment) (England) (No.2) Regulations 2022 have introduced gigabit
broadband infrastructure and connectivity requirements for the construction of new
homes in England which means there is now a requirement in law for policy
requirements of DM4 to be adhered to.

Open Space, sport and recreation

Policy CS14 seeks to ensure that the District’s natural environment, wildlife, habitats,
landscape and geology are considered and protected through good design practices,
seeking to protect existing green spaces and provide new good quality, multi-
functioning green networks and corridors. Updated Policy CS15 indicates that Blaby
District Council will seek to ensure that all residents have access to sufficient, high
quality, accessible open space, and sport and recreation facilities, access to the
Countryside and links to the to the existing footpath, bridleway, and cycleway network.

Contributions for open space provision or improvements within the parish will be
sought in line with the provisions of Policy CS15 and the Blaby District Council
Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning
Guidance, February 2024.

Updated Policy CS15 sets standards for the provision of open space, sport and
recreation per 1000 population in the District, and indicates that these standards will
be used to ensure that development proposals provide sufficient accessible open
space, sports and recreation, taking into account any local deficiencies. It states that
new on-site provision or, where appropriate, financial contributions to improve the
guality of, or access to existing open space, sport and recreation facilities, will be
expected and commuted maintenance sums will be sought.

Blaby District Council’'s Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions
Supplementary Planning Document includes guidance to support the Local Plan in
relation to open space, sport and recreation requirements for developer contributions.
It suggests that for a development of between 50 and 99 dwellings, informal open
space and provision for children and young people would normally be expected on-
site, but an off-site contribution could be sought for parks and recreation grounds,
natural greenspace and allotments and community gardens.

On-site open space provision

Based on the requirements of Policy CS15, the following amounts of public open
space required to serve the development have been calculated. The calculations
assume a household size of 2.4 persons per dwelling (meaning the development of
205 dwellings would have a total population of 492 people). This is consistent with the
average estimated household sizes in the 2021 Census where the average household
size is 2.41 for England, 2.4 for Leicestershire, and 2.42 for Blaby District.

Page 56



The Open Space Plan indicates that a total of 0.91 hectares of public open space will
be provided on site, along with 0.25 hectares for an attenuation basin. The open space
is predominantly located to the centre of the site, with edge open space around the
edges of the site.

The on-site open space comprises the parks and recreation, natural green space,
informal open space, and children and young people’s space. No outdoor sports
space, allotments or cemeteries are proposed on the site.

Type of Amount per 1000 | Amount for 95 Actual Provision in ha
open space | populationin ha | dwellings (228
(Delivery DPD population) in ha
figures)
Parks and 0.23 0.05 0.9 (combined figure)
Recreation
Natural 2.6 0.59
Greenspace
Informal 1.0 0.23
Open space
Children and | 0.06 0.01 0.04
Young
People’s
Open space
Allotments 0.25 0.06 None — off site?
and
Community
Gardens
Cemeteries 0.21 0.05 None — off site?
and
churchyards
Sports Refer to Open Refer to Open None — off site?
Space Audit Space Audit
Other - - 0.25 (attenuation basin)
TOTAL 0.99 0.94 (+0.25
attenuation basin)

The overall amount of open space being provided on site (based on the indicative
layout plan) is just below the requirement of 0.99 hectares. However, the 0.94
hectares being provided does not include the attenuation basin which is in addition to
this, and may form an additional area of usable open space as it is understood that it
would not hold water continuously. Also, the on-site open space does not include
allotments or cemeteries where an off-site contribution may be sought (dependent on
the level of existing provision, as discussed further below). An off-site contribution will
also be required for sport as this is not being provided for on site. The open space will
also include areas which may require specific maintenance or limited public access
for Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) purposes.

Although the proposed masterplan is illustrative only and layout is to be agreed as part
of future reserved matters applications, it is anticipated that the development will come
forward broadly in line with the masterplan. The Section 106 agreement can ensure
that a minimum amount of open space is provided on-site.

Page 57



Off-site open space contributions

As mentioned, the on-site open space does not include provision for outdoor sports
space, or cemeteries/ churchyards. As such, it is considered appropriate for
contributions to consider whether off-site contributions should be required, to address
the open space needs of future residents. Any financial contributions will be secured
through the Section 106 agreement.

Sports provision

Whereas the original Policy CS15 in the Core Strategy set a standard in hectares for
outdoor sports provision per 1000 population, the Updated Policy CS15 in the Delivery
DPD instead refers to the Open Space Audit for guidance on quantity and quality
requirements. An Open Space Audit was produced in 2015 for the Council and was
the evidence that informed the Updated Policy CS15, with a revised audit published in
2019. In relation to outdoor sports provision, the audit provides detailed evidence in
relation to various sports and playing pitch types. However, the accompanying text to
Policy CS15 states that the quantity and type of provision will be assessed on a site-
by-site basis, taking into account the scale and location of development, the Open
Space Audit data, and other relevant Council strategies and policies.

The Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD advises that the Council’s
Health and Leisure team will be consulted in relation to identifying the need for
additional and improvements to sports facilities. It also indicates that the Council’s
Playing Pitch Strategy will be used to assess existing outdoor sports provision within
the District and to identify gaps and potential priorities for future investment. It states
that rather than setting standards per amount of population, requirements for
additional outdoor sports facilities will be based on a more detailed assessment of
local use and demand.

The Council’s Health and Leisure team has requested a contribution of £167,122 and
has recommended that this be used towards an artificial grass pitch and changing
facilities at Stoney Stanton War Memorial Fields, and pitch improvements to grass
pitches at Sapcote Pavilion.

Croft Parish Council, however, has submitted its own bid for an off-site sports
contribution to be used in Croft itself, with the preferred option being the construction
of a pump track (to be used by bicycles, scooters and other wheeled equipment) on
land at Croft Pavilion (Winston Avenue). The Parish Council advises that there are
currently only two pump tracks known to exist in Leicestershire, at Western Park,
Leicester and Earl Shilton. It advises that the pump track could be accommodated
around the existing football pitches and would be located away from residential
properties. The estimated cost of the facility is £145,000. The Parish Council advises
that consideration has been given to improving the current sports pitches and facilities
at Winston Avenue, but this has been discounted as the pitches are in the functional
flood plain and are regularly inundated with water. Additional drainage was installed
15 years ago which has assisted with drainage of water post-flooding, but without
substantial change to the levels of the pitches and a complete new sub-base, the ability
to improve the condition of the pitches is not realistic. The cost of such changes, if
even possible, is estimated to be in excess of £750,000. Discussion over flood lighting

Page 58



of the pitches is understood to have been undertaken with the football club that uses
the space but due to the issues with flooding, this would not be a beneficial
improvement as the pitches would still be in an unplayable condition for a large section
of the winter.

Croft Parish Council considers that it would be of greatest benefit if off-site facilities
linked to the development were provided in Croft itself. The Parish Council undertook
a survey with local residents in April/May 2024 and received 17 responses were
received where 12 residents suggested a need for additional facilities for young people
in the village, particularly children of secondary school age. Croft Parish Council
therefore welcomes the opportunity to extend the range of facilities on offer and the
suggestion of a pump track would encourage outdoor sport and activity and would
specifically cater for children of this age range. The Parish Council comments that the
£145,000 required is appropriate, given this is less than the £167,122 requested by
the District Council’'s Health and Leisure team.

As such, two separate requests have been made for an off-site sports contribution,
from the District Council’s Health and Leisure team (using Sport England’s Playing
Pitch calculator) and from Croft Parish Council. Meanwhile, the Health and Leisure
team has also had discussions with Croft Football Club in relation to whether there is
the ability for the grass pitch improvement fund to be used in Croft. As planning
obligations must comply with the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010,
(they must be necessary, directly related to the development, and fairly and
reasonably related in scale and kind), it would not be reasonable to require both
contributions. Officers recognise the benefits of the contribution being used in Croft if
possible but also recognise that future residents could use improved facilities
elsewhere if appropriate improvements are not possible in Croft.

As such, Officers recommend that the full amount requested by the Health and Leisure
team be secured, but that the Section 106 agreement should be left flexible as to how
the money is spent on sports facilities within the vicinity of the site, as developments
can take a number of years to come forward and priorities for investment could change
in the meantime (or facilities could be funded through other mechanisms or by other
developments).

Cemeteries

Updated Policy CS15 of the Delivery DPD sets a standard of 0.21 hectares per 1000
people for cemeteries, meaning the development would result in a requirement for
0.05 hectares of cemetery space. The Open Space Audit 2020 identifies that the
existing standard for cemeteries in Croft is 0.72 ha per 1000 people, in excess of the
policy requirement, with the allotments located on Huncote Road, just over 1km from
the application site entrance. The proposed development would increase the
population of Croft by circa 228 additional people. With the increased population, the
existing cemetery open space provision would decrease to 0.63 ha per 1000 people,
but this would still be significantly above the Policy CS15 standard of 0.21 ha/1000
people, and as such it is not considered that a contribution for off-site cemetery open
space would be necessary or justified.

Page 59



Allotments

Updated Policy CS15 of the Delivery DPD sets a standard of 0.25 hectares per 1000
people for allotments, meaning the development would result in a requirement for
0.06ha of allotment space. The Open Space Audit 2020 identifies that the existing
standard for allotments in Croft is 0.79 ha per 1000 people, in excess of the policy
requirement, with the allotments located on Arbor Road, just over 1km from the
application site entrance. The proposed development would increase the population
of Croft by circa 228 additional people. With the increased population, the existing
allotment open space provision would decrease to 0.70 ha per 1000 people, but this
would still be significantly above the Policy CS15 standard of 0.25 ha/1000 people,
and as such it is not considered that a contribution for off-site allotment open space
would be necessary or justified.

Community halls

Updated Policy CS15 of the Delivery DPD also has a standard of 1 village or
community hall per 2,200 people (ideally located within 800 metres). Croft has a
population of 1,648 according to the 2019 Open Space Audit, Croft, up to 1,746 based
on the 2021 census. It has a community hall (Croft Pavilion) at Winston Avenue;
however, it is understood that the building cannot be readily used due to the poor
facilities.

Croft Parish Council has advised that the building is circa 70 years old and in need of
modernisation and is not of a standard to be hired out and has been virtually unused
for a few years, only being used once a week by the football club and the parish council
for a monthly meeting. The parish council has advised that to raise the quality of the
facility where it could be used more widely by the community, it would require a new
kitchen and toilet, the cost of which is estimated to total £20,000, and request a
contribution for this purpose.

The proposed development would increase the population of Croft to nearly 2,000
people, which is nearly at the standard where a settlement would require a community
hall. Given the additional population which the development would result in, and the
contribution enabling the existing building to better serve the community, it is
considered reasonable to require the contribution.

Loss of Agricultural Land

The NPPF expects local planning authorities to take into account the economic and
other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Where significant
development of agricultural land is necessary local planning authorities should seek
to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher quality. Agricultural
land is graded into 5 categories ranging from grade 1 (excellent quality agricultural
land) to grade 5 (very poor quality). Grades 1, 2 and 3a (grade 3 is subdivided into two
grades) is the land which is defined as the best and most versatile (BMV). In order to
ensure this land is protected where necessary planning authorities are required to
consult Natural England on applications which would result in the loss of 20ha or more
of such land. Below this threshold it is for the planning authority to decide how
significant the agricultural land issues are.

Page 60



An Agricultural Land Classification Report has been submitted with the application.
The survey has determined that the quality of agricultural land on the site is limited to
Subgrade 3b. As such, the land to be lost is not classified as BMV agricultural land
and so the loss of such land for agricultural purposes is not considered to warrant
refusal of the application or conflict with the principles of the protection of agricultural
land set out in the NPPF.

Archaeology and historic environment

Policies CS20 and DM12 seek to preserve and enhance the cultural heritage of the
District and recognise the need for the Council to take a positive approach to the
conservation of heritage assets. Policy CS20 goes on to state that proposed
development should avoid harm to the significance of historic sites, buildings or areas,
including their setting.

An Archaeological and Heritage Assessment has been submitted with the application
which considers the impact of development on designated and non-designated
heritage assets, and the potential impacts on archaeological interests.

The site does not contain any designated heritage assets and an assessment of
designated heritage assets in the wider area has identified that the site does not
contribute to their significance and therefore no designated heritage assets would be
adversely affected by the proposed development. Similarly, the site does not contain
any non-designated heritage assets and where such assets in the wider area have
been considered, their significance is not considered to be harmed by the proposed
development.

With regards to archaeology, the site is identified as having a very low potential to
contain archaeological remains from any period, with the exception of ‘negligible’ value
buried remains related to medieval and later farming practices. Earthworks related to
ridge and furrow, of medieval or post-medieval date, survive across parts of the site.
These are of varying levels of preservation and are not considered to be of more than
low/local value.

The Leicestershire County Council Archaeology team has been consulted and initially
did not agree that the potential for the presence of significant archaeological remains
was ‘very low’. The archaeologist advised that the submitted masterplan made no
allowance for the preservation of ridge and furrow features and recommended that a
topographic survey was undertaken to better understand the earthworks, prior to
carrying out trial trenching. The applicant subsequently provided a Written Scheme of
Investigation (WSI), which was received by the County Archaeologist and was
considered to propose a satisfactory programme of archaeological work.

Archaeological investigations were then carried out on site in November 2024, in
accordance with the WSI, and an Archaeological Evaluation Report compiled and
submitted.

The County Archaeologist has reviewed the earthwork survey and trial trenching report
and recommended that no further archaeological work is required for the application.

Page 61



In relation to the ridge and furrow on site, the archaeologist has advised that given the
level of earthwork preservation (particularly the northern parcel) and the flexibility
afforded as an outline scheme), the applicant should consider opportunities to
accommodate the earthworks within areas of green space, to retain them as a tangible
component of the landscape. However, the archaeologist does not recommend that
this is made a requirement of any planning permission and would not expect the
applicant to compromise the development in order to achieve this but encourages this
to be given serious consideration as part of the design process.

Overall, the application is considered to comply with Policy CS20 of the Core Strategy
and Policy DM12 of the Delivery DPD.

Environmental Implications

Contamination

A Phase 1 Geo-Environmental Assessment dated May 2024 has been submitted with
the application. This concludes that the proposed development is considered to pose
a low risk to human health due to the limited potential sources of contamination
identified. It recommends that a ground investigation should be undertaken at the site
to confirm ground conditions and the presence of any contaminants. The Council’s
Environmental Services team has been consulted and has recommended a condition
requiring a site investigation, and any remediation required being undertaken, followed
by appropriate validation.

Construction Impacts

The Council’s Environmental Services team has advised that the construction phase
is likely to be lengthy and may give rise to excess dust, noise and vibration which has
the potential to adversely impact the amenity of those living nearby. A condition
requiring the submission and approval of a Construction Environment Management
Plan is recommended. This document can be combined with the Construction Traffic
Management Plan requested by the Local Highway Authority. In addition to the Noise
Impact Assessment already carried out, the Environmental Services team has also
advised that further information on exact mitigation measures through a further noise
report should be submitted and approved at the design stage to demonstrate the
proposed measures will provide sufficient mitigation of current potential noise
exceedances. However, this is not considered to be necessary, given the submitted
noise survey identified limited impact in terms of existing noise sources. The existing
kennels business at Croft Lodge Farm (a potential source of noise for future residents)
is proposed to be closed and so a condition requiring this can be imposed instead,
alongside a condition requiring compliance with the recommendations of the existing
noise assessment.

Waste Collection

The new Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD 2024 makes
provision for developments of over 10 dwellings to provide contributions for suitable
facilities for recycling and waste collection, for example wheelie bins. It states that to

Page 62



cover the cost of bins for recycling and refuse £49.00 per household will be sought on
all major schemes. This amounts to £4,655 for the development.

Ecology and Biodiversity

Ecoloqy appraisal

An Ecological Appraisal has been submitted with the application, which included a
preliminary protected species scoping survey, field survey and Biodiversity Net Gain
assessment. The site was dominated by modified grassland. Other habitat within
and/or bounding the site include cereal crops, developed land, sealed surface, other
neutral grassland, tall forbs, hedgerow and broadleaved trees.

The appraisal does not consider that the proposed development would have any direct
or indirect impact on any statutory designated or non-statutory designated sites within
an appropriate search radius of the site.

The potential for protected species or habitats to be present on site and impacted by
the proposals has been assessed. Whilst the existing site offers breeding potential
for a range of widespread species, the majority of which will continue to breed within
a residential setting particularly as gardens mature. The presence of protected
species has not been identified as a statutory constraint to development.

The Leicestershire County Council ecologist considers the appraisal to be satisfactory
for an outline application with suitable evaluation of protected species, habitats and
designated sites. Conditions are recommended requiring an updated badger survey
if development does not commence within six months, the submission and approval
of a bat-sensitive lighting plan, and a Construction Environmental Management Plan
for Biodiversity.

Biodiversity Net Gain

Biodiversity net gain (BNG) is a strategy requirement for the development of land to
contribute to the recovery of nature. Itis a way of ensuring that habitats for wildlife are
in a better state after development than before. A 10% provision of BNG became
mandatory for planning applications for major development submitted from 12
February 2024 and for small sites from 2 April 2024.

A Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment has been undertaken which indicates that, based
on the illustrative masterplan, the development would result in a net loss to biodiversity
of 36.67%. However, the applicant has identified an offsite parcel of land that is within
the same ownership as the application site and is available to be used for biodiversity
net gain, approximately 460 metres northwest of the application site. It is
recommended that 2.3 ha of other neural grassland is created within this offsite land
(which is currently used for arable purposes). As such, the BNG assessment
undertaken within the onsite and offsite land will result in the scheme achieving a net
gain to biodiversity of 15.18%.

The Biodiversity Metric submitted is considered acceptable to the Leicestershire
County Council ecologist. A condition requiring a Habitat Management and Monitoring

Page 63



Plan is recommended to provide details on how the proposed habitats will be achieved
to the condition stated. The statutory Biodiversity Gain Plan condition will also apply,
and costs for monitoring of BNG will be secured through the Section 106 Agreement
(with monitoring to be carried out by Leicestershire County Council’s ecology service.

Arboricultural implications

An Arboricultural Assessment has been submitted with the application which considers
the arboricultural impacts of the development and includes analysis of the trees
present on site and a categorisation of their quality. The majority of trees and hedges
on or around the site as classed as category B (moderate quality) but with three
category A trees to the southern boundary, and the area of woodland to the south a
category A group. The majority of trees and hedgerows are capable of retention, but
two small sections of hedgerow will require removal, one to create the car boot access
onto Broughton Road and the other to provide a widened access to the southwest field
parcel. The impact on existing tree stock is therefore minimal and there would also be
opportunities to increase the overall canopy cover and arboricultural value through
additional tree planting as part of the development. The report advises that retained
trees should be adequately protected during works and a condition will be imposed to
secure details of protection measures.

Whilst the Leicestershire County Council ecologist has not responded to the
consultation on the application, Officers are confident that the proposed development
would not have a significant impact on trees or hedges on the site. A landscaping
scheme for the site will be agreed at reserved matters stage. A condition requiring the
landscaping to be retained for at least the first 5 years should be imposed. However,
any landscaping with areas of public open space which forms part of the on-site
Biodiversity Net Gain provision, would be required to be retained for a longer period
of 30 years.

Impact on high pressure gas pipeline

Part of the application site is located within the High-Risk zone of a high pressure gas
pipeline and a Holding Objection was initially placed on the application by the Health
and Safety Executive and National Gas Transmission.

National Gas Transmission advised the applicant to conduct a Quantitative Risk
Assessment. Subsequent to the submission of the assessment, National Gas
Transmission advised no objection to the proposal on the basis that the development
would fall outside of the pipeline easement and Building Proximity Distance (BPD) of
76 metres but within the 4x BPD distance of 304 metres. However, the development
has been risk assessed and is considered acceptable to National Gas Transmission.
The Health and Safety Executive had also removed its objection and based on the
proposed number of dwellings did not advise, on safety grounds, against the granting
of planning permission, with the site being located in the outer zone of the High
Pressure Gas pipeline.

Page 64



Minerals safeguarding

The site is located partially within a Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA) for superficial
sand and gravel resources, as identified by the Mineral Planning Authority (MPA)
(Leicestershire County Council). British Geological Survey online mapping shows the
superficial geology is glacial till, with the solid geology beneath the Mercia Mudstone
Group, with both deposits not classed as safeguarded resources.

Minerals planning policy is outlined in the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local
Plan, adopted in 2019. Policy M11 (relating to the Safeguarding of Mineral Resources)
is of relevance.

A Mineral Resource Assessment has been undertaken which concludes that no
mineral sterilisation will occur as a result of the proposed development as the site is
not located above any of the safeguarded mineral deposit and so the proposed
development is compliance with the mineral safeguarding policy.

The MPA has been consulted and has no objections, acknowledging the conclusion
of the report that the mineral is not viable with the site not being located upon any
identified sand and gravel deposit.

Overall Planning Balance and Conclusion

When determining planning applications, the District Planning Authority must
determine applications in accordance with the Development Plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

However, as set out in the report above, it is acknowledged that the Council can only
demonstrate a 3.53-year housing land supply (or less following the publication of the
revised NPPF). The NPPF, which is a material consideration in decision making,
requires that planning authorities identify a five-year supply of deliverable housing
sites. Where a five-year supply of deliverable sites cannot be identified then the
provisions of paragraph 11d of the NPPF apply. This means granting permission for
development unless the application of policies in the framework that seek to protect
areas or assets of particular importance provide a strong reason for refusing the
development, or any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a
whole. In accordance with paragraph 11 of the NPPF, this means that the so called
‘tilted balance’ is engaged and any harm arising from the proposal must ‘significantly
and demonstrably’ outweigh the benefits in order to refuse planning permission.

The proposed development would provide up to 95 dwellings, of which 25% would be
affordable dwellings on a site which adjoins the Settlement Boundary of Croft, a
Medium Central Village. The spatial strategy set out in Policies CS1 and CS5 of the
Core Strategy allocate only a modest amount of growth in the Medium Central
Villages, where the scale of development will reflect the settlement’s range of available
services and facilities and public transport alternatives. The Medium Central Villages
have a combined minimum housing figure of 815 dwellings within the Local Plan period
which has already been exceeded by at least 319 dwellings. Croft itself, however, has
only delivered 54 housing completions within the Local Plan period (although the Local

Page 65



Plan does not align an individual figure to Croft). As the site is classed as Countryside,
Policy CS18 requires the need to retain Countryside to be balanced against the need
to provide new development (including housing) in the most sustainable locations.

However, due to the absence of a five-year land supply, those policies which are the
most important for determining the application are considered out of date (i.e. those
policies which relate to the distribution of housing) and the provision of up to 95 houses
would weigh significantly in favour of the proposal. Furthermore, given that Croft has
only delivered a small proportion of the housing growth within the Medium Central
Villages, the development would also deliver much needed housing and affordable
housing for Croft and also provide an additional population in the village to support
existing services such as local shops and, in particular, the primary school which is
quite significantly undersubscribed.

The development would also provide on-site open space, a contribution towards new
or improved off-site sports facilities, and a contribution for improvements to the
community hall on Winston Avenue to enable it to be brought into fuller use for the
benefit of new residents of the development, as well as contributions towards
secondary education, health care, libraries, civic waste facilities, and the police to meet
the needs arising from the development. The statutory requirement for Biodiversity
Net Gain has been demonstrated to be achievable through a combination of on and
off-site habitat improvements. The site will provide economic benefits during
construction, and post-development future residents will contribute to the wider local
economy in the village and surrounding area.

It is acknowledged that there would be some impact on landscape character, but this
would predominantly be localised, and longer-range views would be filtered by
vegetation and viewed in the context of the existing settlement. Furthermore, part of
the site is located in an area of surface water flood risk. One sequentially preferable
site has been identified which would be suitable and available to contain the
development and therefore the flood risk sequential test has failed. In such
circumstances the NPPF states that planning permission should be refused. However,
the area of flood risk on site is relatively limited and it is likely that it can be mitigated
through the surface water drainage strategy or by containing the built development on
areas of the site which are at lowest risk of flooding (given the application is currently
in outline form). Also, in the context of the Council’s housing land supply shortfall,
sites which contain an element of heightened surface water flood risk are likely to be
required to deliver the Council’s housing requirements given the prevalence of areas
of surface water flood risk.

The proposed development would also result in some increase in traffic with additional
residents using local roads in the village, including Broughton Road which is a
designated ‘quiet route’. However, the Local Highway Authority does not consider the
highway impacts of the development to be severe. The vehicular access to the site,
and the new access to be created for the car boot site, are both considered to be safe
and suitable, and the Local Highway Authority does not consider any other junction
improvements are required following the modelling exercise. The developer would
provide traffic calming in the form of chicanes on Broughton Road and a Traffic
Regulation Order to reduce the speed limit to 30mph, along with a scheme for the
relocation of a bus stop to bring a local bus service closer to the development.

Page 66



There are no technical constraints relating to heritage impacts, environmental
constraints or ecology that cannot be mitigated. The proposal would result in the loss
of agricultural land, but this does not fall within the Best and Most Versatile category.
Matters relating to the Minerals Safeguarding Area and the proximity of the site to a
high-pressure gas pipeline have been considered but found to be acceptable.

In conclusion, whilst the site is located within the Countryside where such development
which has not been allocated in the Local Plan would not normally be permitted, it is
acknowledged that in the context of the Council’s lack of five-year housing land supply
and the ‘tilted balance’, the provision of housing carries significant weight in the
planning balance. Other benefits include the provision of much needed affordable
housing, economic benefits during the construction phase and to the local economy
through household spending, social benefits including additional population to sustain
the undersubscribed primary school, improvements to local infrastructure and
provision of on-site open space, a contribution to off-site sports improvements and
biodiversity net gain provision through off site provision close to the site. The
landscape harm caused by the development would be localised and viewed within the
context of the existing village edge and the development is not of such a scale where
it would significantly overwhelm the village, with the population of the village likely to
increase by between 10 and 15%. Whilst one sequentially preferable site at lower
flood risk has been identified, the failure of the sequential test is considered to be
outweighed by the housing need and given the flood risk is likely to be mitigated
through detailed site design.

Overall, the proposal would conflict with some policies of the Development Plan, in
particular being contrary to Policies CS18, CS22 and DM2 given the site is located
beyond the Settlement Boundaries in the Countryside and there is a sequentially
preferable site identified at lower flood risk. However, in the context of the ‘tilted
balance’, as set out in paragraph 11d of the NPPF, any harm is required to significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the development in order to refuse planning
permission. In this context, and accounting for the contribution which the development
makes to housing land supply, it is not considered that the harms identified significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.

The application is therefore recommended for approval subject to the conditions set
out at the beginning of this report, and a Section 106 agreement to secure the
obligations listed.

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

Blaby District Council
Planning Committee

Date of Meeting 5 June 2025
Title of Report Blaby District Council (56 Station, Countesthorpe) Tree
Preservation Order 2025

Report Author Development Services Manager

1. What is this report about?

1.1 The purpose of the report is to consider whether or not to confirm the
provisional Tree Preservation Order (TPO) made 20 March 2025 on 1 no.
Lime Tree and 1 no. Sycamore situated in the front garden of 56 Station Road,
Countesthorpe.

2. Recommendation(s)

2.1 The Planning Committee approve the confirmation of the Tree Preservation
Order at 56 Station Road, Countesthorpe.

2.2 The Authority be delegated to the Planning and Strategic Growth Group
Manager to confirm the Tree Preservation Order at 56 Station Road,
Countesthorpe.

3. Reason for Decision(s) Recommended

3.1 Having consideration of the representation received regarding the TPO, it is
considered that there are insufficient grounds not to confirm the Order. The
two trees contribute to the provision of important visual amenity along the
street frontage of the residential properties that are located along Station
Road.

4. Matters to consider

4.1 Background

4.1.1 The two trees are situated to the front of the dwelling 56 Station Road. The
trees are a Lime (T1) and a Sycamore (T2) and the locations are shown on
the plan in the attached Appendix A.

4.1.2 Both trees were previously subject to the Blaby District Council (Station

Road, Countesthorpe) Tree Preservation Order 1975. However, this order
was made provisionally and was not confirmed and as such had lapsed. The

Page 69



4.1.3

4.1.4

4.2

4.3

4.3.1

4.3.2

owner of the property was not aware that the 1975 Tree Preservation Order
had not been confirmed and as such treated the Trees as if the protections
of the TPO continued.

In February 2025, an application was submitted to the Council for works to
the trees (reference 25/0111/TPO). Following receipt of this application it
was identified that the 1975 Order had lapsed. A review took place as to
whether a new TPO should be made. A Tree Evaluation Method for
Preservation Orders (TEMPO) assessment was carried out.

The trees have been assessed as providing considerable public amenity
value and a positive contribution to the character of the immediate and
surrounding area. The trees are in good condition considering their age. The
TEMPO assessment of the Lime (T1) scored 13 and the Sycamore (T2)
scored 12 and with such scores the TEMPO guidance is that the trees could
be considered to merit a TPO. As such it was considered expedient and in
the interests of amenity to protect the trees. A new provisional TPO was
made under delegated powers in March 2025.

Representations received

1 representation was received objecting to the TPO. The representation is
provided in full in Appendix B of this report. In summary, the representation
refers to:

e Impact of overhanging branches with the deposit of leaves and sap
onto vehicles parked below.

e Residents of No. 58 Station Road not being communicated with in
advance of the decision to impose as TPO and not given the
opportunity to carry out works prior to the making of the TPO.

e Enforce maintenance requirements for trees under existing TPOs.

Consideration of Representations Received

A Tree Preservation Order is an order made by a local planning authority in
England to protect specific trees, groups of trees or woodlands in the
interests of amenity. An Order prohibits the:

cutting down
topping

lopping
uprooting

wilful damage
wilful destruction

of trees without the local planning authority’s written consent. If consent is
given, it can be subject to conditions which have to be followed.

There is no application fee. Anyone can apply for works on trees and the
applicant does not need to be the owner of the trees.

Page 70



4.3.3

4.3.4

4.4

441

4.5

5.1

6.1

7.1

8.1

Owners of protected trees must not carry out, or cause or permit the carrying
out of, any of the prohibited activities without the written consent of the local
authority. As with owners of unprotected trees, they are responsible for
maintaining their trees, with no statutory rules setting out how often or to what
standard. The local planning authority cannot require maintenance work to
be done to a tree just because it is protected. However, the authority can
encourage good tree management, particularly when determining
applications for consent under a Tree Preservation Order. This will help to
maintain and enhance the amenity provided by protected trees.

The Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations
2012, outline the statutory process for making Tree Preservation Orders and
this process was duly followed in the making of this Provisional Tree
Preservation Order including notification to interested parties.

Conclusions

It is considered that the trees shown on the TPO plan and schedule, are
worthy of protection due to their public amenity value. Having regard to the
points raised by the representations received (Appendix X) and the
professional advice received from Leicestershire County Council’'s Forestry
and Arboricultural Officer, your Officers have balanced all other issues and
considered that there is no over-riding reason not to confirm the Tree
Preservation Order.

Other significant issues

In preparing this report, the author has considered issues related to Human
Rights, Legal Matters, Human Resources, Equalities, Public Health
Inequalities, and Climate Local and there are no areas of concern.
Environmental impact

Not applicable

What will it cost and are there opportunities for savings?

Not applicable

What are the risks and how can they be reduced?

There are no risks

Other options considered

That the Tree Preservation Order not be confirmed. This option is not
recommended for the reasons given in the report.

Appendix

Page 71



Appendix A — Tree Preservation Order Plan (To Be Confirmed)
Appendix B — Representations Received
Appendix C — TEMPO Assessment (LCC Forestry)

10. Background paper(s)

10.1 Background papers are contained in files held in the Planning Division for
each application being considered and are available for public inspection.

11. Report author’s contact details

Kiera Cooper Planning Technician
planning@blaby.gov.uk 0116 272 7705

Page 72



Appendix A - Tree Preservation (to be confirmed)

Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Blaby District Council (56 Station Road, Countesthorpe) Tree
Preservation Order 2025

,L
:
;

l— 117 U
bl

o

s B

= 'n
b
8
L
]
,I‘:" |

18

Sports Pavilion

-t

l

- 4 g
Crown Copyright & Database Rights Blaby District Council 2025 Licence No. ACO000808718
Scale

Dated this ....... Dayof ... Two Thousand and ;

Twentyfive 1:1250

Signed on Behalf of Blaby District Council

Extract
Authorised by the Council to sign in that behalf SP5895SW

Page 73



Appendix C - Representation:

58 Station Road
Countesthorpe
Leicester

LES 5TA

21 April 2025

Group Manager

Planning & Strategic Growth
Blaby District Council
Council Offices

Desford Road

Narborough

Leicester

LE19 2EP

Subject: Formal Opposition to Tree Preservation Order (TPO) at 56 Station
Road, Countesthorpe, LE8 5TA - Specifically T2 as marked on plan.

Dear Jonathan,

| am writing to formally express my opposition to the recent Tree Preservation QOrder
(TPQ) applied to the tree(s) at 56 Station Road, Countesthorpe, Leicester, LES STA,
specifically due to the ongoing issues caused by overhanging branches and the lack
of equitable opportunity to address these problems prior to the order’s
implementation, '

While | fully support the preservation of trees and recognise their environmental and
community value, | believe this TPO fails to account for the practical challenges
posed by the tree in question. The overhanging branches deposit sticky leaves and
sap onto vehicles parked below, causing persistent damage and inconvenience. This
issue could have been mitigated had property owners, including myself, been given
fair notice and opportunity to prune the branches before the TPO was enacted. It is
my understanding that the current property owners of the tree(s) under the TPO
were permitted to prune their branches prior to the order being finalised. This
inconsistency in process unfairly disadvantages neighbouring residents who were not
afforded the same chance to maintain their properties,

Page 74



Furthermore, | wish to highlight concerns regarding the enforcement and
maintenance of existing TPOs in our area. At number 60 Station Road,
Countesthorpe, Leicester, LE8 5TA, the trees protected by preservation orders are not
adequately maintained, resulting in deadwood and unstable branches that regularly
fall during high winds. This poses a safety risk to pedestrians, vehicles, and property.
If TPOs are to be effective, they must be accompanied by clear obligations for tree
owners to maintain their trees responsibly. Without this balance, preservation orders
risk becoming a source of hazard rather than a safequard for the environment.

Considering these points, | respectfully request the following actions:

1. Review the TPO to permit the pruning of overhanging branches affecting my
property, ensuring equitable treatment for all residents.

2. Enforce maintenance requirements for trees under existing TPOs, including

regular inspections and removal of deadwood to prevent safety hazards.

Clarify communication protocols to ensure all affected residents are notified

and given reasonable opportunity to address concerns before future TPOs are

enacted.

L

I trust the council will consider this appeal with fairness and urgency. Trees are a
shared asset, but their preservation must not come at the expense of resident safety,
property upkeep, or procedural equity. | am happy to provide further details or
discuss this matter in person if required

Thank you for your attention to this matter

Yours faithfully,

Page 75




Appendix C - Tempo Assessment (LCC Forestry):

iI'REE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION CRDERS - TEMPO

SURVEY DATA SHELT & DECISION GUIDE

Date: 28,/02/3024 SUrvEROr:
Adam
Gaodall
Tree details
TPO Ref {if applicable): Tree/Graup T Species: Lime
Oowner (if knawn: Lacation: Front of 56 Station Road, Countesthorpe

REFER TO GUIDANCE MOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIOMS

Part 1: Amnﬂ; A5 eE Mt g & Motes

a) Condition & sultability for TRO . ) )
4 — Fair. Tree appears to be in good health when viewed from

5) Good =ighly suitable thi= public highway. Tres has reached Full agefsize patential
3 Fairfsatisfactory Suitable Tress dominant over adjacent sycamore but both trees have
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable formed contiguaus canopy.

0 Dead fdyingfdangerous® Unsuitable

* Relotes fo ewisting context ond is intended to apply to severe irremediabie defects only

b Retention span (in years) & suitability for TRO

5) 100+ Highly suitable Score & Hotes

4) £0-100 Yery switable 3 - Suitable. Maturs tree which should continue o cantribute
2) 20-£0 Sultable towards the character of the village far saome time to come.

1) 10-20 Just switabbe

oj <10° Ursuitable

*irciudes trees whick ane an existing ov mear futwee rulsoace, including those cleady outgrowdng their coatext, or which are
significantly negating the potentiol of ctber trees of Bedter guality

ci Relative public visibility & switabikty for TRO
Consider readshic potertio! for future weibility with changed land use

5) Wery large trees with some visibility, or prominent large trees Highly suitable Seore & Motes
a) Large trees, or medivm trees chearly visible to the public Suitable .

d-Large sized tree clearl
3 Mediven trees, or large tress with limited view anly Suitabile oarge ¥
2} Young, smiall, ar medivm flarge trees visible onlywith difficulty Sarely suitabie wisible to the public at the
1) Trees not wiskble to the public, regardiess of size Probably unsuitable front of the property

d] Crther factors
Trees must howe eocrued 7 or meore podats fwith mo 2ero scare) to qualify

5) Principal compenents of formal arbon cultural features, or weteran trees Score & Notes

4) Tree growps, or principal members of growps important for their cobesion 1 - Tree of average condition for spedies
3) Trees with identifiable histonc, commemorative or habitat importance
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rane or unusual

1) Trees with nane of the above additional redeaming features {inc. those of indiflerent form)
1) Trees with poar farm or which are generally unsuitable for their location

Part 2: Expediency assessment
Trees must hiowe gocrued 10 or more polots ta quallfy

5) iImmediabe threat to tree nc =.211 Notice N
3) Foresesable threat to tcee Soore & Botes - Precautionary

2 Perceived threat to tree i
1) Precautionary only

Fart 3: Decision guide

Any 0 Do not apply TR0

LB TPO indefersible fedd Scores for Total: Decision:

711 Does not merit TRO 11 TRO Defensibbe
12-15% TRO defensible

1&= Peliniisly margs TR0

Page 76



h’REE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATICON ORDERS - TEMPO

SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE

Date: 2/02,/ 2024 SurvERor:
Adam
Gaodall
Tree details
TPO Ref {if applicable): Trea/Group T1 Species: Sycamore
Crwner (if knawnj: Lacation: Front of 56 Station Road, Countesthorpe

REFER TO GUIDAMNCE NOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIONS

Part 1: Amenity assessment 5 & Motes

a) Condition & sultability for TPO B . .
3 — Fair. Tree appears ta be in goad health when viewed from

5) Good =ighly suitable the public highway. Tres has reached Full agey/size patential but
3 Fairfsatisfactory Suitable is dominated by the adjacent Lime. Both trees create a
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable cantinuous canopy.

0) Dead/dying/dangerous* Unsuitable

* Relofes fo existiog conbext ond s indended to apply fo severe iremediabie n'u:'_i":'r.'s only

bl Retention span (n years) & suitabibty for TPO

5) 100 Highly suitable Score & Notes

4) £0-100 Wery suitakie 3 — Suitable. KMaturs treae which should continue to cantribute
2) 10-£0 Sultable towards the character af the village for some time to come.

1) 10-20 Just suttable

o <10* Unisuitable

*trciudes trees whick are an exlsting o rear futvre rulsence, includdeg those clearly outgrowing their context, or which are
significantiy negoting the potentiol of obber frees of Better guotiy

t Relative public visibility & suitability for TRO
Consider realstc potemtiol for future wislbility wicth changed land wse

5 Very large trees with some visibility, ar prominent large trees Highly suitable Seare & Motes
4 Large trees, of medivm trees clearly visible to the public Suitable .
d-Large siced tree clearky
3 Medivm trees, or large trees with limibed view anly Zuitable i B i by
2 Yourg, small, ar m ndu.m."larg,c trees wisible onllywith difficuliy Harely suitabde wisible to the public at the frant
1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size Probahly unsultable af the property

dj Orther factors
Trees must hove oocrued 7 or mone powats with so 2ero scare) o quailly

53 Principal components of farmal arborcultural features, or veteran trees Score & Hotes

4} Tree growps, or principal members of growps important for their cobesion 1 - Tree of average condition for spedies
) Trees with icentifiable histonc, commemorative or habitat impaortance
2 Trees of particularly good fomm, especially If rare or unuswal

11 Trees with nane of the abowe additional redeeming features {inc. those of indifferent fonm)
1} Trees with poar form or which are generlly unsultable for their lozation

Fart : Ex| lamdy assessmeent
Trees rmust hove cocreed 10 o more pakts ta gualify

53 Immediate theeat to tree nc £.211 Motioe B
3) Foresecable threat to tree Score & Motes : Precautionary 1

2 Perceived threat to tree
Li Precautionary only

Fart 3: Decision guide

any 0 Di riok apgly T20

B TPO indefensible ddd Scores for Total: Decision:

=11 Does not merit TRO iz TPO Defensible
1215 TPO defenzible

1e= Prlioisely mengs TR0

Page 77




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Applications for Determination
	5 Blaby District Council (56 Station, Countesthorpe) Tree Preservation Order 2025

